

/The City is [NOT] a Tree The Urban Ecologies of Divided Cities

A Book of Abstracts





Tshwane Unive of Technolog We empower people



This abstracts book was printed by IEREK and, by all means, IEREK is responsible for this complimentary copy of the book. Research papers within this book will be considered for publication in a book series by Springer Nature. The publication will be supervised by highly professional members of an International Editorial Board to ensure high-quality publication material. The series is indexed in Scopus. All Author participants are expected to write their manuscripts / papers using the IEREK template provided in the author instructions tab of the respective conference. Once, and if, your paper is selected for publication, you will be contacted and asked to use the template of the selected journal/ series accordingly, if any.

PHOTOCOPYING

Single photocopies of single articles may be made for personal use as allowed by national copyright laws.

Permission of the organizing institution and publisher is required for all other photocopying including multiple or systematic copying, copying for advertising or promotional purposes or any and all forms of document delivery.

DERIVATIVE WORKS

Subscribers may reproduce tables of contents or prepare lists of articles including abstracts for internal circulation within their institutions. Permission of the Publisher/ Organizer is required for distribution outside the institution. Resale is not permitted. Permission of the publisher/ Organizer is required for all other derivative works, including compilations and translations.

ELECTRONIC STORAGE OR USAGE

Permission of the Publisher is required to store or use electronically any material contained in this book including any article or part of an article except as outlined above, no part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in the retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without prior written permission of the Publisher.

NOTICE

No responsibility is assumed by the Publisher for any injury and/or damage to persons or property as a matter of products liability, negligence or otherwise, or form any use or operation of any methods, products, instructions or ideas contained in the material herein.

The City is [Not] a Tree: The Urban Ecologies of Divided Cities (UEDC)

A Book of Abstracts submitted to the 1st edition of the international conference on The City is [Not] a Tree: The Urban Ecologies of Divided Cities



Acknowledgements

IEREK would like to express its appreciation to all members of the staff and scientific committee for their tremendous efforts and contribution to the growth of this institution and for making the first edition of the international conference on The City is [Not] a Tree: The Urban Ecologies of Divided Cities a success. IEREK would like to thank the conference chairperson, Professor Amira Osman from the Department of Architecture at Tshwane University of Technology of South Africa who is also the SARChI: DST/NRF/SACN Research Chair in Spatial Transformation (Positive Change in the Built Environment). Prof. Osman and her team had a hand in making the 1st Edition of this conference what it is today by providing scientific and logistical support throughout its organization. IEREK takes pride in being an institution that amasses a highly qualified and competent team who restlessly worked for months to make this conference what it is today in hopes of creating a well-rounded society. Last but not least, we cannot neglect the prominent role undertaken by our Editors and Reviewers who made it their duty to help this institution in spreading knowledge to the masses.

Foreword

The City is [NOT] a Tree spreads awareness of the problems that cause spatial, physical, political, social, economic, racial, and religious divisions in cities. Architects, planners, built environment professionals, social and political scientists, economists, designers and artists will come together to discuss the reasons for the divisions as well as to conceptualise an approach to heal those divisions. The conference will also include developers, local authorities and communities in the conversation.

The whole concept of the nature of divisions in cities means that effective principles and strategies can start to be formulated towards healing and transforming cities into liveable and loveable places, some of which are viewed as the 'home' to more integrated communities, cities and a more just and unified society.

We will be laying the groundwork for the possibilities of new social and physical formations, seeking ways to work meaningfully for societal advantage. We explore the different kinds of approaches, tools and possibilities that may be learned through different disciplines.

The conference unpacks two possible conditions:

- The city is a tree the city reproducing itself (more walls, more divisions)
- The city is not a tree the city remaking itself anew (an alternative condition)

The ecologies of division shape spatialities, territories and geographies, between or within nations and different groupings. Where do these divisions manifest? Do they manifest into borders, walls, buffers and security? How were these spaces or lines socially or physically constructed? And how are they policed, maintained, perpetuated or contested?

'Place' is neither exclusive to the building/object nor the space around it, but is inclusive of human inhabitation, encompassing space for the individual and for society. The active parties who shape the built environment define it as a fundamental component of human interactions and relationships. In divided and pathological societies, this suggests redefinitions and repurposing of what place/space could mean and could be. The (re)definitions of space as a first step in the making of 'place' and the formination of a sense of 'home'.

Fuelled by systemic problems, the urban ecologies of divided cities appear as mutually constituted physical, psychological and social conditions. Socio-spatial realities remain entrenched upon identities and the urban psyche without being significant acknowledgement or resistance. The conference investigates such intersecting systemic currents, but it also explores the imaginative and potentially creative possibilities which could begin to challenge "either-or" binaries, and offer a potentially creative space. As a collaborative and inter-disciplinary project, The City is [NOT] a Tree is also interested in the imaginative and multi-stranded confluence of memory, history, and social and political contexts, helping to construct new physical, social and symbolic space on which to build.

Amira Osman Professor, Architecture and Industrial Design, Tshwane University of Technology SARChI: DST/NRF/SACN Research Chair in Spatial Transformation: Positive Change in the Built Environment Director: PLATFORM 100 Convenor: The City is [Not] a Tree: The Urban Ecologies of Divided Cities 2022

Word from the Chairman of the Board of IEREK

I would like to start my word by saying it is my honor to be launching this conference on The City is [Not] a Tree: The Urban Ecologies of Divided Cities, the very first Edition of its kind.

Then, I would like to mention IEREK's efforts in establishing this successful event. IEREK- International Experts for Research Enrichment and Knowledge Exchange - is an institution that began pursuing its goal of reaching excellence in the research field in 2013, and since then has been connecting the world's scholars and providing them with a platform that would advance all their endeavors. Building international relationships with prestigious universities and institutes worldwide is one of IEREK's main goals, spreading knowledge and enhancing research around the world, along the way, through collaborating with trustworthy partners who share its same vision.

IEREK hopes to present the world with a conference that positively contributes to its relative field and makes way for scholars to combine their ideas for the greater goal of discovering new and innovative solutions to the issue at hand, with the aid of our scientific committee comprised of distinguished professors and researchers from a variety of international, established universities.

Finally, I hope that the conference succeeds in delivering its message to the world of professionals in the various concerned disciplines in order for their work to be put into motion. I also declare our welcome to all audiences, from undergraduate to postgraduate students, and all who will benefit the most out of this conference. I am looking forward to meeting you all and collaborating within this successful experience.

ner

Architect, BSc, DSc, MSc, PhD IEREK GmbH CEO & Founder

Word from the UEDC Conference Chairperson

It is a pleasure for me to present the first edition of **The City is [Not] a Tree: The Urban Ecologies of Divided Cities**, a collaboration between Tshwane University of Technology, South Africa and IEREK.

The conference will be held as a hybrid conference from 5 to 7 July 2022, where you were able to choose to attend either physically in South Africa, or online from the comfort of your home country.

The City is [NOT] a Tree emerged as an idea on top of a hill overlooking the city of Belfast, facilitated by a Spanish colleague in the UK, in multiple conversations over the years with a colleague in Brazil and took root as an event and partnership in South Africa.

We started with the name Divided Cities which was beautifully and poetically translated into a document titled **The City is [Not] a Tree: The Urban Ecologies of Divided Cities** by Mr Tariq Toffa. The title of the conference itself then inspired new forms of engagement with the topics and led to newer and undiscovered collaborations and partnernships.

This event aims to create more awareness of the divisions that plague our cities, while also building new partnerships, and strengthening existing partnerships, that help address those divisions.

My gratitude goes to the whole team that has allowed this event to take place. IEREK in particular have been amazing! I would like to also thank the Editors and Reviewers who worked on the proceedings book that is to be published in the Advances in Science, Technology and Innovation book series by Springer. This is hopefully the start of a long partnership and the translation of a dream of spatial transformation, of livable and loveable cities, to become the living reality of the majority of the citizens of our cities.

Amira Osman Professor, Architecture and Industrial Design, Tshwane University of Technology SARChI: DST/NRF/SACN Research Chair in Spatial Transformation: Positive Change in the Built Environment Director: PLATFORM 100 Convenor: A City is [Not] a Tree: The Urban Ecologies of Divided Cities 2022

Table of Contents

Part I: Historical and contemporary processes

1	Exploring the Impact of Colonial Legacies in Urban-related Identity and the Will to Participate in Urban Decision-Making – Case Study of Morocco Noussayba Rahmouni	3
2	A Comparative Study on Asian Cities' Fabrics – The Morphological Approach Beisi Jia	4
3	Divided Cities in Syria: The Urban Basis of the Political Division. Munqeth Othmanagha	5
4	The intersections of past and present policies in producing and perpetuating processes of division and integration in Cape Town. Kenny Chiwarawara	7
5	Patterns of inclusivity and exclusivity: a comparative analysis of Asmara, Eritrea and Durban, South Africa. Belula Tecle	8
6	Connecting cities across infrastructural divides: case studies from self-build practices in Tshwane east. Paul Devenish	9
7	Indi-African geometric expression in Marabastad: Reforming ruptured urban fabric in Tshwane, South Africa. Kirti Mistry	11
8	Containing the Human "Tree" in South Africa- what is the perfect size? Zaakirah Jeeva	12
9	Divided Architectures: Hidden Infrastructures of Separation and Cohesion. David Coyles	13
10	Dérive today: Artistic research and the city space. Stefan Winter	15

Part II: New grounds

11 Upsouth: Digitally enabling rangatahi (youth) and their whānau (families) to build critical and creative thinking towards more active citizenship in Aotearoa New Zealand.
 Ayla hoeta

Fog water for a new ground.

12 Maria Giovanna Di Bitonto

13	A Gender-Sensitive Landscape Planning Approach in Urban Transformation to Improve the Quality of Everyday Life for All Case Study: Khartoum. Mariam Wagialla	23
14	My Mabopane: Using photo-voice to understand local community engagement with urban green infrastructure in South Africa. Linette Knudsen	25
15	Re-imagining the role of climate finance in promoting a just transition: Case studies of Prieska, Niekerkshoop and Marydale, South Africa. Sonwabile Lugogo	27
16	The role of the architectural profession within the Upgrading of Informal Settlements Programme (UISP) in South Africa. Jason Oberholster	28
17	Building bridges between actors and territories in Mexico City. Challenges, opportunities, and paradoxes of initiatives that promote fairer and more sustainable food schemes. Ayari Pasquier	30
18	Collaborative design experiences in rejected Spatialities towards an insurgent urbanism. Luciana Andrade	32
19	The political and democratic city: the place of difference. Carolina Almeida	33
20	Social and spatial transformation in South Africa: Opportunities and possibilities of	34

20 Social and spatial transformation in South Africa: Opportunities and possibilities of 34 collaboration.
 Tariq Toffa

Part III: Territories and Taxonomies

22	Spatial Inequality of Accessibility to Urban Parks: case study of Auckland public housing developments. ITing Chuang	37
23	Most colonial' architecture; Orientalist architecture of Bosnia and Herzegovina along the border between national discourses. Džumhur Lejla	39
24	Urban form and health status in Gauteng, South Africa. Rhena Delport	42
25	Exploring Digital and Financial Divide and Its Effects on South African Women's Engagement in Entrepreneurship. Tin Ojo	44

26	Interpreting the effects of changing Architectural Taxonomies in Diu Town. Anisha Meggi	46
27	Socio-spatial segregation as a consequence of Commercial Gentrification in Cumbaya, Quito – Ecuador. Mauricio Unda	48
28	An ethnographic account on the desire for greenery in the affluent northern suburbs of Johannesburg, South Africa. Oda Maraire	49
30	The informal land market in Belo Horizonte Metropolitan Area: evidence from public inspection of irregular subdivisions (2009-2018) Daniel Freitas	51
31	Divided cities: the language game as a violent strategy. Bruno Fernandes	52
32	Unslumming the Slum of a Small Town: An Ethnographic Account from Bodh Gaya, India. Ritika Rajput	53
Part	IV: Redefinitions	
33	Places of worship in urban landscape: the role of participatory processes for their reuse in a European comparative perspective. Davide Dimodugno	37
34	Learning from The Falls Belfast: urban reflections on defensive space Alona Martinez Perez	59
35	Venting Practices: Navigating the interpersonal dynamics of socio-technical spatial design work in neo-Apartheid cities. Jhono Bennett	61
37	Religion and Identity Construction: Unity in Diversity. Mansoureh Ebrahimi	63

38 The Zinc Forest: Making Home in the Post-Apartheid City. | Barry Lewis

Part IV: Questions of Agency

The Role of Art in the Construction of Public Space: Istanbul Biennials from 1987 to 2019.
 Elif Eş

64

	69
 41 Repositioning architectural education through tactics of transgression. Jabu Makhubu 	
 44 Question of Agency: What drives divisive space (re)production and spati transformation in the City of Polokwane? Frank Moffat 	al 71
 Geospatial based flood inundation mapping for developing an adaptation framework case for Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality, South Africa Emmanuel Busayo 	a 73
45 Addressing Housing Inequalities in Post-Conflict Belfast: A Transformative Justice Approach Caitriona Mackel	74
46 Architectural Agency: Seeking New Ground and Porous Borders Ciarán Mackel	75

. .

Part I Historical and contemporary processes

Exploring the Impact of Colonial Legacies in Urban-related Identity and the Will to Participate in Urban Decision-Making: A Case Study of Morocco

Noussayba Rahmouni, Izuru Saizen

PhD student, the Graduate School of Library, Information and Media Studies - University of Tsukuba, Japan

Abstract

There is a clear absence of public participation in urban decision making in Moroccan cities. While the systematic marginalization of public opinion in formal planning legislation is regarded in literature as the main factor for this absence, this paper proposes a complementary explanation. It suggests the consideration of the role of the uncertainty of the Moroccan urban-related identity in the weakening of the collective will to participate. Using the reinterpretation of Moroccan planning history, complemented with interviews with Moroccan academics and planners, this paper explores how colonial legacies contributed in creating a physical as well as an institutional division between the Moroccan society and its urban context. This paper argues that the different urban changes under the collective will to participate in shaping urban Morocco. It explains that any attempt at bridging these divisions have to go through a reevaluation of the Moroccan planning history and a reconstruction of a shared urban-related identity.

Keywords

Colonialism; Public participation; Morocco; Urban-related identity; Urban history.

- 1. Aït Hamza, M. (2012). Maroc utile, Maroc inutile : mythe ou réalité ? In Gremr. Availabe at: https://gremr.ma/images/2020/02/Maroc-utile-inutile.pdf [Accessed 22 February 2022]
- 2. Belanche, D., Casaló, L. V., & Flavián, C. (2017). Understanding the cognitive, affective and evaluative components of social urban identity: Determinants, measurement, and practical consequences. Journal of Environmental Psychology, 50, 138-153.
- 3. Bessac-Vaure, S. (2016). Étude comparative des administrations française et espagnole dans le Maroc colonial, 1912-1936. Monde (s), (1), 185-203.
- Holden, S. E. (2007). Constructing an archival cityscape: Local views of colonial urbanism in the French Protectorate of Morocco. History in Africa, 34, 121-132.
- Iraki, A., & Houdret, A. (2021). La Participation Citoyenne au Maroc : Entre expériences passées et régionalisation avancée (pp. 9–73). INAU/CERAU.
- 6. Jelidi, C. (2008). La fabrication d'une ville nouvelle sous le Protectorat français au Maroc (1912-1956): Fès-nouvelle. Les Cahiers d'EMAM. Études sur le Monde Arabe et la Méditerranée, (16), 77-82.
- 7. Lalli, M. (1988). Urban identity. In Environmental social psychology (pp. 303-311). Springer, Dordrecht.
- 8. MEL. (1961). Les institutions du Maroc indépendant et le « modèle français ». Revue Tiers Monde, 169-182.
- 9. Philifert, P., 2010. Maroc : des études urbaines saisies par le changement?. Géocarrefour, 85(4), pp.323-331.
- 10. Radoine, H. (2011). Planning paradigm in the madina: order in randomness. Planning Perspectives, 26(4), 527-549.
- 11. Rharbi, L. (2006). La planification urbaine au Maroc : Bilan des 50 années et perspectives.
- 12. Wright, G. (1987). Tradition in the service of modernity: architecture and urbanism in French colonial policy, 1900-1930. The journal of modern history, 59(2), 291-316.

A Comparative Study on Asian Cities' Fabrics - The Morphological Approach

Beisi Jia

Associate Professor of Architecture, The University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong

Abstract

Owing to rapid urbanisation in Asia, globalisation and 'The Belt and Road Initiative' in China and South and West Asia, understanding and sustaining different urban cultures in Asia is needed. Urban morphology and housing form in traditional cities and new development are important components of urban cultures. However, studies on crossing cultural comparative studies are very limited in Asia. An understanding of the built environment is acquired through history and by examining the acts and processes that have contributed to the formation and transformation of urban central areas. The change is evolutionary and a gradual process of sustaining and mutation in the structure and form. Based on the morphological theories and methodologies, six cities from twenty along the Silk Road are selected, revealed and compared in three spatial hierarchies: urban networks, blocks and typical housing plans. The built environment is a complex and organic structure in which a given type of element is contained by another, which in turn is included by another element. Diversities of the six cities are derived from the intersections between cultural beliefs and trading networks connecting them from ancient times. Diversities are more obvious in the lower spatial level, such as buildings. Western colonialism and modernisation had stronger impacts on the urban forms in western Asian cities earlier and in eastern Asian cities later. However, a similarity among all the six cities is found in large self-built communities with morphological patterns independent from any paradigms which need to be further studied.

Keywords:

Morphology, Urban Fabric, Asian Cities

- 1. Tzonis, Alex. 2005. Redefining environmental quality', Building Research & Information, 33:3, 284 286 To link to this Article: DOI: 10.1080/0961321050010260. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/09613210500102608</u>
- 2. Soe, Won Hwang. 2018. Seoul's Morphology as 'Apartment Complex City' Shaped by Housing Development Methods. The 18th International Planning History Society Conference - Yokohama, July 2018
- 3. Khan, Hasan-Uddin.1996 "Asian Architecture: Diversity and Eclecticism". Contemporary Asian Architects, Koln : Taschen 1996
- 4. Sintusingha, Sidh and Morteza Mirgholami. 2013. Parallel modernization and self-colonization: Urban evolution and practices in Bangkok and Tehran, Cities 30 (2013) 122–132
- 5. Nanta, Piyarat. 2009. Social Change and the Thai House: A Study of Transformation in the Traditional Dwelling of Central Thailand. A dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (Architecture) in The University of Michigan.
- 6. Wang, Han and Beisi Jia .2018. Morphological Characteristics of Traditional Residential Districts in Chinese and Southeast Asian Port Cities. Sustainability 2018, 10 (for Peer Review)

Divided Cities in Syria: The Urban Basis of the Political Division

Munqeth Othman Agha

PhD student at the School of International Studies, the University of Trento

Abstract

This research aims to trace the process of territorial division of two Syrian cities (Dara'a and Deir-ez-Zor) during the conflict. Roots of division can be found in most Syrian cities' pre-conflict socio-spatial structures, but the research attempts to examine the way different neighbourhoods interacted with the uprising movement leading often to heterogeneous outcomes. Place-specific characteristics (urban and demographic) have played a decisive role in determining the neighbourhoods' ability (or inability) to mobilise, sustain mobilisation, resist the regime's brutality, and transfer that eventually into territorial control.

Keywords

The Syrian conflict; divided city; social movement; socio-spatial inequality

- Allegra, Marco, Irene Bono, Jonathan Rokem, Anna Casaglia, Roberta Marzorati, and Haim Yacobi. "Rethinking Cities in Contentious Times: The Mobilisation of Urban Dissent in the 'Arab Spring." Urban Studies 50, no. 9 (July 2013): 1675–88.
- 2. Alnasseri, Sabah. Arab Revolutions and Beyond The Middle East and Reverberations in the Americas. New York: Palgrave Macmillan, 2016.
- 3. Aslan, Billur. "The Mobilization Process of Syria's Activists: The Symbiotic Relationship Between the Use of ICTs and the Political Culture." *International Journal of Communication 9* (2015): 2507–2525.
- 4. Azmeh, Shamel. "Syria's Passage to Conflict: The End of the 'Developmental Rentier Fix' and the Consolidation of New Elite Rule." *Politics & Society* 44, no. 4 (2016): 499–523.
- 5. Beach, Derek and Rasmus Pedersen. Process-Tracing Methods: Foundations and Guidelines.
- 6. Michigan: The University of Michigan Press, 2013.
- 7. Beaumont, Justin, Walter Nicholls, and Byron Miller. *Spaces of Contention Spatialities and Social Movements*. New York: Routledge, 2013.
- 8. Bennett, Andrew, and Jeffrey Checkel. Process Tracing: From Metaphor to Analytic Tool.
- 9. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2015.
- 10. Della Porta, Donatella. Social movements, political violence, and the state. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1995.
- 11. Ismail, Salwa. "Urban Subalterns in the Arab Revolutions: Cairo and Damascus in Comparative Perspective." *Comparative Studies in Society and History* 55, no. 4 (2013):865–894
- 12. Kruijt, Dirk and Koonings, Kees. Megacities: *The Politics of Urban Exclusion and Violence in the Global South*. London: Zed Books Ltd., 2009.
- 13. Leenders, Reinoud. "Social Movement Theory and the Onset of the Popular Uprising in Syria." *Arab Studies Quarterly* 35, no. 3 (2013): pp. 273-289.
- 14. Lowe, Stuart. Urban social movements. New York: Macmillan, 1986.
- 15. Martin, Deborah. "Place-Framing" as Place-Making: Constituting a Neighborhood for Organizing and Activism." *Annals of the Association of American Geographers 93*, no. 3 (2003): 730–750.
- 16. McAdam, Doug, Sidney Tarrow, and Charles Tilly. *Dynamics of Contention*. New York: Columbia University, 2012.
- 17. McAdam, Doug. "Recruitment to High-Risk Activism: The Case of Freedom Summer." *American Journal of Sociology* 92, no. 1 (1986): pp. 64-90.
- 18. Næss, Petter. "Built environment, causality and urban planning." Planning Theory & Practice 17, no. 1 (2016): 52-71.

- 19. Pahl, Raymond. Whose City?: And Further Essays on Urban Society. London: Longman, 1970.
- 20. Pearlman, Wendy. "Mobilizing From Scratch: Large-Scale Collective Action Without Preexisting Organization in the Syrian Uprising." *Comparative Political Studies* 54, no. 10 (2021): 1786–1817.
- 21. Rex, John. "The Concept of Housing Class and the Sociology of Race Relations." Race 6, no. 3 (1971): 293 301.
- 22. Shultziner, Doron, and Sarah Goldberg. "The stages of mass mobilization: separate phenomena and distinct causal mechanisms." *Theory Soc Behav* 49 (2019): 2–23.
- 23. Wimmen, Heiko. "Syria's Path From Civic Uprising To Civil War". 2016. *The Carnegie Endowment for International Peace*.
- 24. Zhao, Dingxin. "Ecologies of Social Movements: Student Mobilization during the 1989 Prodemocracy Movement in Beijing." *American Journal of Sociology 103*, no. 6 (1998): 1493–1529.

The intersections of past and present policies in producing and perpetuating processes of division and integration in Cape Town3

Kenny Chiwarawara

Centre for Social Change, University of Johannesburg

Abstract

South Africa continues to show signs of a dual economy marked by one of the highest rates of inequality in the world. Cape Town is regarded as one of the most unequal cities – if not the most – in the world. Three centuries of colonialism, four decades of apartheid and Cape Town's neoliberal stance have created unparalleled forms of inequality. How have past and the present policies and predispositions shaped Cape Town's outlook, particularly in two low-income communities of Gugulethu and Khayelitsha. Drawing on a systematic review of literature and empirical data, the paper finds that Cape Town, is still marked by high rates of inequality, hypersegregation, class-based segregation with huge investments in the core and wealth concentrated in the CBD and clustered in formerly White areas under the Group Areas Act of 1950. Formerly Black designed areas are still largely poverty stricken with unimpressive service delivery records. It is in these contexts of glaring inequalities that service delivery protests have erupted. The paper employs the Framing Processes Theory to analyse activists' understanding of their situations and protests.

Keywords

Cape Town, policy, inequality, segregation, dual city, protests

- 1. Benford, R.D. and Snow, D.A. 2000. Framing processes and social movements: An overview and assessment. *Annual review of sociology*, 26(1), 611-639.
- 2. Christopher, A. J. 2005. The slow pace of desegregation in South African cities: 1996–2001. *Urban Studies*, 42, 2305–2320.
- 3. Dano Z. and Barnes C. 2013. Faeces fly at Cape Town airport. Available at: https://www.iol.co.za/news/politics/faeces-fly-at-cape-town-airport-1537561 (05 July 2016).
- 4. Donaldson, R. and Kotze, N. 2006. Residential desegregation dynamics in the South African city of Polokwane (Pietersburg). *Tijdschriftvoor Economische en Sociale Geografie*, 97, 567–582.
- 5. Geyer, H.S. and Mohammed, F., 2016. Hypersegregation and class-based segregation processes in Cape Town 2001–2011. *Urban Forum*, 27(1), 35-58).
- 6. McDonald, D.A. 2008. *World city syndrome: Neoliberalism and inequality in Cape Town*. Hoboken: Taylor and Francis.
- 7. Parry, K. and van Eeden, A. 2015. Measuring racial residential segregation at different geographic scales in Cape Town and Johannesburg. *South African Geographical Journal*, 97(1), 31-49.
- 8. Snow, D. A. 2004. Framing Processes, Ideology, and Discursive Fields. In: D.A. Snow., S.A. Soule. and H. Kriesi. *The Blackwell Companion to Social Movements*. Oxford: Blackwell Publishing, 380-412.
- 9. World Bank. 2021. The World Bank in South Africa. Available at: https://www.worldbank.org/en/country/southafrica/overview (Accessed 19 May 2021).

Patterns of inclusivity and exclusivity: a comparative analysis of Asmara, Eritrea and Durban, South Africa.

Dr Belula Tecle Misghina

Lecturer of Architecture, Department of Architecture at Durban University of Technology.

Abstract

Asmara in Eritrea, and Durban, South Africa have both evolved as modern cities from colonial design processes. Asmara expresses existing village settlement patterns layered with 20th century Italian planning and architecture, while Durban expresses British utilitarian urban planning approaches layered with the modernist city and apartheid city principles. Whereas the former reclaimed the city both spatially and socially, during its postcolonial era, the latter reflects a proliferation of new urban centres and some consequential urban decay or loss of vitality in the city. The paper analyses the historical, causal design patterns and decisions that led to two different trajectories in the contemporary processes of urban place-making. A qualitative study through literature review and mapping, within a pragmatist paradigm, defines the methodology. Spatial analysis through mapping reveals the key spatial moments in the postcolonial evolution of the cities that led to either social cohesion and activation on one hand, or abandonment, exclusion and decay, on the other. A key finding is the critical role of the market, as a place beyond its primary function as a centre for trade, to a complex place of indeterminate socio-spatial interactions. While the Asmara urban planning concepts established markets as urban nodes connected via activated trade streets, by design, the most vibrant places in Durban evolved semi-formally / informally through organic responsive processes and incidental spatial appropriation or spatial recycling. This paper provokes a critical review of fundamental spatial design decisions, through time, towards defining key principles for socially inclusive, vibrant and sustainable cities.

Keywords

Colonial; Patterns; Modernist city; Market; Inclusive cities

- 1. The Burra Charter: The Australia ICOMOS Charter for Places of Cultural Significance, 2013.
- Luckan Y. 2014. D'Urban resilience: The Warwick Junction Precinct. L'architettura delle città: The Journal of the Scientific Society Ludovico Quaroni. Vol. 3-4-5 / 2014: The City in Evolutionary Age: pp 165 -194
- Luckan Y. The Human City: People, Place and Time as critical determinants of urban quality. Tsinghua University, Urban Design Journal. Vol. 2 / 2015: pp 048 – 063
- 4. Rosenberg, L., 2013, Vahed, G., Hassim, A., Moodley, S. & Singh, K., The Making of Place: The Warwick Junction Precinct, Durban University of Technology Press: Durban.
- 5. Tecle-Misghina B., Asmara an Urban History, UNESCO-Chair Series#1, L'architettura delle città. The Journal of Scientific Society Ludovico Quaroni, Edizioni Nuova Cultura, Roma 2014.
- 6. Digital ISBN 9788868124663, Hard copy ISBN 9788868123543.
- 7. Trancik, R., 1986, Finding Lost Space, Van Nostrand: New York, pp. 97-124.

Connecting cities across infrastructural divides: case studies from self-build practices in Tshwane east

Paul G. Devenish^a

^aPhD candidate, lecturer & master's studio supervisor, Department of Architecture, University of Pretoria, RSA

Denambaye M. Demba^b, Alexia Katranas^c and Delani Kriek^d

b,c&dArch (Prof) 2021 graduates, Department of Architecture, University of Pretoria, RSA

Abstract

This paper investigates opportunities to connect divided cities by analysing ways in which occupation practices operate alongside, subvert and potentially transform historic, and presently developing urban infrastructure divisions in the east of Tshwane.

Spatial design based research analysing formal and informal built development and settlement patterns are presented with a focus on areas around Mamelodi east and Moreleta Park. These studies demonstrate conditions through which urban divisions of inequality are perpetually forming alongside service and social urban infrastructure developments. They also raise key questions relating to the relationships and urban spatial divides between formal building developments and economies, and informal building practices and livelihood threats for the urban majority. The second part of the project involves lifeworld and social network analyses of self-build situations occurring at sites of infrastructural intersections. These studies focus on the composition of building fabrics that actively attempt to circumvent issues of material and resource scarcity as well as unequal access to service and social infrastructure through the establishment of building interfaces that facilitate exchange and network opportunities. While this field work exposes some of the volatile situations that many urban inhabitants experience on a perpetual basis, the primary aim is instead to identify and reveal - from everyday spatial occupations – methods that can improve the network potential of built environments as opportunities to transform their associated infrastructure systems.

The project concludes by exploring opportunities for replication and future research opportunities in other regions of Gauteng. It also forms part of a greater research endeavour to explore methods for establishing connections and interfaces in contexts of built environment divisions and segregation.

Keywords

urban segregation; infrastructure; interfaces; informality; urban networks

- 1. BHAN, G. (2019) 'Notes on a southern urban practice,' in Environment and Urbanization, 31(2): pp.639-654.
- 2. BREED, C. (2012) 'The transient aspects of city life: their understanding and interpretation for design purposes,' in *South African landscape architecture*, Tshwane: UNISA Press, pp.1-33.
- 3. CALAME, J & CHARLESWORTH, E. (2009) *Divided Cities: Belfast, Beirut, Jerusalem, Monster, and Nicosia,* Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press.
- 4. CASAKIN, H. & VALERA, S. (2020) 'The complexity of urban public space and social network analysis: a case study of Barcelona,' in *Architext*, 8: pp.8-23.
- CITY OF TSHWANE (2005) Proposed Tshwane open space frameworks, volume 1 status quo, available at: http://www.tshwane.gov.za/sites/residents/Services/OpenSpaceManagement/Framework/Open%20Space%20Framewor k%20Vol%201.pdf (accessed: May 05, 2021)
- 6. COMMUNITY CARING FORUM (2021) 'City of Tshwane: Plastic View,' letter to the City of Tshwane mayor, Tshwane: CCF.
- 7. DEMBA, D. (2021) *Re(create)tion: revealing the agency and recreational spaces in the township of Mamelodi east through architecture as 'dispositif' for the everyday*, Masters Dissertation, Tshwane: University of Pretoria.
- 8. EASTERLING, K. (2016) Extrastatecraft: the power of infrastructure space. London: Verso
- 9. FRICHOT, H. (2019) Creative ecologies: theorizing the practice of architecture. London: Bloomsbury Visual Arts.
- LANDMAN, K. (2004) 'Gated communities in South Africa: the challenge for spatial planning and land use management,' in *TPR*, 75(2): pp.151-172.
- 11. DENOON-STEVENS, S. & RAMAILA, E. (2018) 'Community facilities in previously disadvantaged areas of South Africa', in *Development Southern Africa*, 35(4): pp.432-449.

- 12. KATRANAS, A. (2021) The architecture of scarcity, Masters Dissertation, Tshwane: University of Pretoria.
- 13. KRIEK, D. (2021) Negotiating the future city: cataloguing consequential spontaneity in the static city, Masters Dissertation, Tshwane: University of Pretoria.
- 14. McCONNACHIE, M. & SHACKLETON, C. (2010) 'Public green spaces inequality in small towns in South Africa,' in *Habitat international*, 34: pp.244-248.
- 15. MAHARAJ, B. (2020) 'The apartheid city,' in Massey, R. & Gunter, A. (eds) Urban geography in South Africa: perspectives and theory. Cham : Springer International Publishing: Springer, pp.39-54
- 16. MATSIPA, M. (2017) 'Soft infrastructure: recalibrating aesthetics, economies, and urban epistemologies,' special public lecture, Wits City Institute, University of the Witwatersrand: Johannesburg.
- 17. MEHROTRA, R. & VERA, F. (2018) 'The city kinetic,' in the Architectural Review, 244: pp.54-57.
- 18. MPOFU-WALSH, S. (2021) The new Apartheid. First edn. Cape Town: Tafelberg.
- 19. PERES, E. (2015) *The translation of ecological resilience theory into urban systems*, PhD thesis, Tshwane: University of Pretoria.
- 20. PIETERSE, E. (2009) 'African cities: grasping the unknowable,' Inaugural Lecture: University of Cape Town, 26 August 2009.
- 21. RUBY, A. & RUBY, I. (2017) Infrastructure Space. Berlin: Ruby Press
- 22. SALAT, S. (2011) Cities and forms: on sustainable urbanism, Trieste: Graphart Printing Urban Morphology Laboratory.
- 23. SIMONE, A. (2004) 'People as Infrastructure: intersecting fragments in Johannesburg,' in *Public Culture* 16(3), pp.407-429
- 24. TILL, J. (2009) Architecture depends. Cambridge, Mass.: MIT Press.
- 25. URBAN STUDIO. (2020) 'Healing urban fractures, inside a pandemic, vulnerability, imagination, innovation in the City of Tshwane,' De Beer, S. et al. (eds), Tshwane: University of Pretoria.
- 26. UNITED NATIONS (2015) *The millennium development goals report 2015*. New York: United Nations. Available at: https://www.undp.org/publications/millennium-development-goals-report-2015 (accessed: January 06, 2021)
- 27. VAN DER WAAL, G. (2000). Mamelodi heritage route, Tshwane: University of Pretoria.
- 28. WAFER, A. (2020) 'Infrastructure in South African Cities,' in Massey, R. & Gunter, A. (eds) *Urban Geography in South Africa : Perspectives and Theory*. Cham : Springer International Publishing : Springer, pp. 85–96.
- 29. WINNING, F. (2010) 'Creativity and Flexibility: The Nexus between Infrastructure Space and Art,' in *Australasian Drama Studies*, 56: pp.7–24.
- 30. WORLD BANK (2022) Inequality in southern Africa: an assessment of the southern African customs union, World Bank Publishing: Washington DC

Indi-African geometric expression in Marabastad: Reforming ruptured urban fabric in Tshwane, South Africa

Kirti Kanak Mistry

Tshwane University of Technology Amira Osman

Tshwane University of Technology

Abstract

South Africa is home to several diasporas. This is a country with a deep history of colonisation and various reasons leading to migration to this land over time; some were driven here due to destitution and/or slavery, the minority being of Indian origin. Despite having lived here for over 160 years, Indian communities struggle to integrate their presence and lack a sense of belonging, nationally, and also within the larger context of Tshwane; Indians were stripped of their cultural practices and voices. However, their resilience is evident in daily rituals and through various annual celebrations and festivities such as Diwali. Apartheid segregation relegated different racial groups to different locations in the city. Marabastad in Tshwane hosted Indians together with the natives, Muslims, Asians and coloureds. Geometry has been a common denominator in expressive visual communication between these ethnicities. For Indians specifically, geometry extends beyond two-dimensional expressions and is also integrated into, and is a reflection of, metaphysical experiences. Consequently, the Group Areas Act of 1950 ruptured the collective cohabitation of the multi-ethnicities, forcing segregation, and subsequently ripping the cultural tapestry that existed in relative harmony at the time. Studying geometry provides a medium to engage within space for healing, and furthermore, reform the spatial experiences within the city at a micro-level. This paper investigates how geometrically-informed spatial reformation facilitates cultural and identity reclamation through an architecture devised from site-specific geometric fusions. This is enacted through applying principles that acknowledged previous means of manifestation and guidance such as rituals, religion, social systems, prayers, language, art, poetry and other forms of expression. Also, it intends to provide a medium through which Indi-Africans re-integrate their presence and belonging in an engaging and profound manner.

Keywords

Culture, Geometry, Identity, Indi-African, Spatial reclamation, South-African,

- 1. <u>Bonner</u>, J. and <u>Kaplan</u>, C. (2017) Islamic Geometric Patterns: Their Historical Development and Traditional Methods of Construction, New York: Springer
- Global Freedom Movement (2014) 'Chestahedron: The Magic Of The Heart Sacred Geometry', Global Freedom Movement, 25 September. Available at: https://globalfreedommovement.org/chestahedron-sacred-geometry-revealed/ (Accessed: 12 October 2021).
- 3. Hoard, A. (2000) The Commodification Of Art: Ndebele Women in the Stream of Change. Available at: http://www.culturalsurvival.org/publications/cultural-survival-quarterly/commodification-art-ndebele-women-streamchange (Accessed: 26 June 2021).
- 4. Mikula, P., B, K. and Harber, R. (1982) Traditional Hindu temples. Durban: Hindu Temple Publications.
- Naidoo, M. (2008) Muthal Naidoo LAWS MARABASTAD. Available at: https://www.muthalnaidoo.co.za/articlecategories/stories-from-the-asiatic-bazaar/113-laws-marabastad (Accessed: 28 May 2021).
- 6. Panday, Y. (2013) Concepts of space in traditional Indian architecture, Issuu. Available at: https://issuu.com/mapin/docs/concepts_of_space (Accessed: 20 May 2021).
- 7. Ravi and Minu (2008) 'VASTU PRINCIPLE | VASTU PURUSHA MANDALA | ARCHITECTURE IDEAS', Architecture Ideas, 23 October. Available at: https://architectureideas.info/2008/10/vastu-purusha-mandala/ (Accessed: 31 October 2021).
- 8. Salingaros, N.A. (2012) 'Fractal Art and Architecture Reduce Physiological Stress', in the Journal of Biourbanism, JBU II (2012) 2 · 12, p. 11-28, International Society of Biourbanism

Containing the Human "Tree" in South Africa- what is the perfect size?

Dr. Z.I.Jeeva¹, Prof. T Gumbo², Prof. E.J Cilliers³

¹Post- doctoral Fellow North- West University, South Africa ²Head of Department, Town and Regional Planning, University of Johannesburg, South Africa ³Head of department, Sydney University of Technology, Australia

Abstract:

Local economic growth and social development is largely dependent on strong local governance. While effective governance is dependent on the structure and composition of the municipality. On the 19th of May 2022, the South African Minister of Finance, Enoch Godongwana openly acknowledged that a large number of municipalities in South Africa are dysfunctional and consequently many local economies are struggling. In light of this statement, the paper questions the formation of municipalities in South Africa and seeks to determine if the areas delimited are manageable. The paper analyses the 88 municipalities listed as dysfunctional in terms of their delimited areas in 2016 and their related population. It found that many of the municipalities listed as dysfunctional are very large and have low population densities. At least 81% of the 88 municipalities had a population density below 100people per square KM. The World Bank lists these settlements as "rural areas. This makes the management and development rather difficult and hinders economic investments. As a result, the paper suggests that smaller municipalities might provide a solution to creating more functional municipalities with stronger economies.

Keywords

Municipalities, Delimitation, Population density, Dysfunctional, South Africa.

Reference:

- Brand, D. (2018). South Africa is paying a heavy price for dysfunctional local government. https://theconversation.com/south-africa-is-paying-a-heavy-price-for-dysfunctional-local-government-102295. [17 May 2022].
- COGTA. 2018. List of Dysfunctional and Distressed Municipalities. https://www.cogta.gov.za/index.php/2018/05/23/list-of-dysfunctional-and-distressed-municipalities/_[18 May 2022].
- 3. Dijkstra, L. Hamilton, E., Lall, S. and Wahba, S. (2020). How do we define cities, towns and rural areas? World Bank Blogs. www.blogs.worldbank.org/ [19 May 2022].
- Felix, J. (2021). Just 5% of SA's municipalities considered stable, with more than half in a financial mess. https://www.news24.com/news24/southafrica/news/just-5-of-sas-municipalities-considered-stable-with-more-than-halfin-a-financial-mess-20210825 [19 May 2022].
- 5. Goel, R. and Mohan, D. (2020). Investigating the association between population density and travel patterns in Indian cities—An analysis of 2011 census data. Cities, vol. 100. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cities.2020.102656.</u>
- 6. Municipalities. 2016. Muncipal Data. <u>https://municipalities.co.za/demographic/144/central-karoo-district-municipality</u> [19 May 2022].
- 7. Olson, W (2019). Equality vs. Equity vs. Capitalism. https://www.cato.org/blog/equality-vs-equity-vs-capitalism
- RSA. (1998). Local Government: Municipal Demarcation Bill: hearings <u>https://pmg.org.za/committee-meeting/6591 [18 May 2022].</u>
- 9. SACN. (2016). State of cities Report. <u>http://www.socr.co.za/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/SoCR16-Main-Report-online.pdf</u> [18 May 2022]
- 10. SANEWS (2022). Plans for South Africa's most dysfunctional municipalities

https://www.iol.co.za/news/politics/enoch-godongwana-guns-for-43-dysfunctional-municipalities-6971de4b-1439-4bd0-bf31-c541544f3cc9 [19 May 2022].

11. Staff writer. (2022). This map shows the best and worst run municipalities in South Africa

.https://businesstech.co.za/news/government/515940/this-map-shows-the-best-and-worst-run-municipalities-in-south-africa/ [19 May 2022].

Divided Architectures: Hidden Infrastructures of Separation and Cohesion

David Coyles

Senior Lecturer in Architecture, Belfast School of Architecture & the Built enviroment

Abstract:

This paper draws on two recent research projects to provide a novel perspective on the overlooked role played by 'everyday' architecture in post-conflict Belfast. It first reveals the capacity of architecture to latently reinforce and duplicate conflict forces by examining an historic body of *hidden barriers* put in place between 1977-1985 as part of a confidential programme of government security-planning. It illustrates how seemingly nondescript buildings and spaces work in unseen ways to foster continued social division within present-day Belfast. The paper then moves on to provide a contemporary counterpoint by revealing the capacity of architecture to stimulate positive micro-politics between divided groups. It analyses a series of publicly funded Community Hubs which generate novel architectures that promote social mixing and exchange. It illustrates how these buildings and spaces work in hidden ways to stimulate and sustain new forms of cross-community contact. The paper concludes by arguing for a re-evaluation of the role played by architecture, in its widest sense, within wider peacebuilding policy processes.

Keywords

Architecture; Belfast; Conflict; Territory; Inter-group contact; The Troubles.

- 1. AMIN, A. 2002. Ethnicity and the multicultural city: living with diversity. *Environment and Planning A: Economy and Space*, 34, 959-980.
- 2. AMIN, A. 2008. Thinking past integration and community cohesion. Integration and Community Cohesion Seminar, Conflict Transformation Project, 5 February 2008 Belfast. Belfast City Council.
- 3. BOAL, F. W. 1969. Territoriality on the Shankill-Falls divide, Belfast. Irish Geography, 6, 30-50.
- 4. BOAL, F. W. 1995. Shaping a City: Belfast in the Late Twentieth Century, Belfast, Institute of Irish Studies.
- 5. COYLES, D. 2017. The security-threat-community. City, 21, 699-723.
- 6. DARBY, J. 1986. Intimidation and the Control of Conflict in Northern Ireland, Dublin, Gill and Macmillan.
- 7. ELDEN, S. 2017. Legal terrain-the political materiality of territory. London Review of International Law, 5, 199-224.
- 8. ESPOSITO DE VITA, G., TRILLO, C. & MARTINEZ-PEREZ, A. 2016. Community planning and urban design in contested places. Some insights from Belfast. *Journal of Urban Design*, 21, 320-334.
- 9. GAFFIKIN, F., MCELDOWNEY, M., RAFFERTY, G. & STERRETT, K. 2008. *Public Space for a Shared Belfast: A research report for Belfast City Council*, Belfast, Belfast City Council.
- 10. GEHL, J. 2011. Life Between Buildings: Using Public Space, Washington, DC, Island press.
- 11. HEPBURN, A. C. 1994. Long division and ethnic conflict: The experience of Belfast. *In:* DUNN, S. (ed.) *Managing Divided Cities.* Keele: Ryburn Publishing.
- 12. HEWSTONE, M., TAUSCH, N., HUGHES, J. & CAIRNS, E. 2008. *Can contact promote better relations? Evidence from mixed and segregated areas of Belfast*, Belfast, Office of the First Minister and deputy First Minister.
- 13. LOWNSBROUGH, H. & BEUNDERMAN, J. 2007. Equally Spaced?: Public Space and Interaction Between Diverse Communities: a Report for the Commission for Racial Equality, London, Demos London.
- 14. MCCORD, J., MCCORD, M. J., MCCLUSKEY, W., DAVIS, P., MCIHATTON, D. & HARAN, M. 2013. Belfast's iron(ic) curtain: "Peace walls" and their impact on house prices in the Belfast housing market. *Journal of European Real Estate Research*, 6, 333-358.
- 15. MURTAGH, B. 1995. Image making versus reality: Ethnic division and the planning challenge of Belfast's peace lines. *In:* NEILL, W. J. V., FITZSIMONS, D. S. & MURTAGH, B. (eds.) *Reimaging the pariah city: urban development in Belfast & Detroit.* Aldershot: Avebury.
- 16. MURTAGH, B. 2002. The Politics of Territory: Policy and Segregation in Northern Ireland, New York, Palgrave.

- 17. MURTAGH, B. 2011. Ethno-Religious Segregation in Post-Conflict Belfast. Built Environment, 37, 213-225.
- 18. MURTAGH, B., BOAL, F. W., MCGIVERN, W., GLENDINNING, W. & DUGAN, M. A. 1993. *Planning and Ethnic Space in Belfast,* Newtownabbey, University of Ulster.
- 19. NORTHERN IRELAND OFFICE 1998. The Agreement, Belfast, Northern Ireland Office.
- 20. SHIRLOW, P. & MURTAGH, B. 2006. Belfast: Segregation, violence and the city, London, Pluto Press.

Dérive today: Artistic research and the city space

Stefan Winter

Honorary Professor and Head of Institute for Artistic Research at Film University Babelsberg; Visiting Professor at School of Architecture and Planning, Wits University Johannesburg

Abstract

In the artistic avantgarde of postwar Paris, Ivan Chtcheglov introduced the *dérive*, drifting through the body of the city, as a procedure of artistic research to take note of the "atmosphere" of built environments and of their effect on our ways to live and live together. Mapping the city in a whole new way, the situationists captured psychogeographic contours and showed the city space as subdivided into "unities of ambiance". This analytic side was linked to the projection of an architecture that would house a new active and cohesive society where citizens would engage in creating "situations" - temporary settings for a shared collective time.

Translated into our contemporary context, the *dérive* is able to disclose the multi-layered structures of an urban habitat in their lifeworld-dimension, as field work in Johannesburg and Berlin shows. As it contributes to discuss the contrasts, similarities, and differences of specific urban habitats, the *dérive* thus also becomes a tool in our decolonial dialogues. And it serves as an element in a larger framework where artistic research, architecture and urban design enter novel cooperations to not only analyse but also to project the urban habitat. The vision of society as a breathing web of heterogeneous groups, who negotiate their shares and commons in mutual respect, has become more complex nowadays, as it needs to consider social, economic, and ecologic sustainability in their interdependencies and interactions. Numerous examples from the african and european spheres, however, already demonstrate the impact artistic research can bring to these three dimensions of urban development.

Keywords:

Dérive, Psychogeography, Artistic research, Urban design, Sustainability, Societal cohesion

Part II New grounds

Upsouth: Digitally enabling rangatahi (youth) and their whānau (families) to build critical and creative thinking towards more active citizenship in Aotearoa New Zealand

Ayla Hoeta¹ & Angus Donald Campbell²

^{1&2}Elam School of Fine Arts & Design, Faculty of Creative Arts & Industries, Waipapa Taumata Rau | University of Auckland

Abstract

In a post-colonial Aotearoa New Zealand, solutions by rangatahi (youth) for *rangatahi* are essential (Hunia et al. 2021) as is civic participation and building economic agency in an increasingly tough economic climate. Upsouth was an online community crowdsourcing platform developed by The Southern Initiative, in collaboration with Itsnoon (TSI, 2021) that provides rangatahi and whānau (family) a safe space to share lived experience, thoughts and ideas about local kaupapa (issues/topics) of importance to them (TSI, 2019b).

The target participants were Māori, Pacific and minority ethnic groups, aged 14 - 21 years. In the Aotearoa New Zealand context, this participant group is not likely to engage in traditional consultation processes (Auckland Council, 2020, TSI, 2019a) despite being an essential constituent in helping shape better local communities, whānau and futures. Māori are tangata whenua (indigenous people of the land). Māori also means ma (to be pure) and oriori (intention) which is to be of pure intention.

The Upsouth platform was active for two years from 2017- 2019 where it completed 42 callups with 4300+ participants. A callup was about a pressing challenge in a community such as climate change, a new housing development, homelessness etc. Each callup was funded by a sponsor such as Auckland Council, Z Energy or Auckland Transport to generate youth voice for a strategic plan, local initiative or decision making process. Upsouth collated the ideas, voices and content from the callup and encouraged rangatahi to express themselves culturally, creatively and freely through their choice of expression. This often resulted in artwork, song, dance, video, drawings, and poetry.

A key point of difference was Upsouths payment and koha (donation) process. Participants were given koha through digital wallets and paid a financial reward for their ideas and contributions. Depending on the quality of the uploaded content, the koha varied between small micropayments and large payments. This encouraged participants to develop their creative and critical thinking to improve their ideas and rewarded them as experts in their own lived experience and knowledge.

A reciprocal process was important to build a creative economy enabling youth-led action and also developing skills for future focussed jobs and financial literacy. Upsouth challenged the current systems of acceptable community engagement by local governing bodies since many traditional engagement platforms are not as consultative, do not accept diverse types of feedback, nor incentivise this valuable expression of feedback. Upsouth is also empowering for rangatahi, since it allows them the opportunity to express their opinions directly to the government.

This paper will fully contextualise the potential and the challenges of rangatahi and whānau civic engagement in Aotearoa New Zealand and present a reflective case study of the Upsouth project, with examples from some of the callups. This is intended to form part of the *Divided Cities 22* conference *New Ground* sub-theme as a critical reflection on a design intervention, which was conceived and implemented by the lead author to overcome the post-colonial divisions of Māori, Pacific and minority ethnic rangatahi and whānau in South Auckland, Aotearoa New Zealand.

Keywords

rangatahi; youth empowerment; civic engagement; enabling; relating; digital platform; participation; critical thinking; creative thinking

- 1. Auckland Council (2020). Youth in the South: A data overview of rangatahi in four South Auckland local board areas. Retrieved from <u>https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5cf74c8f2829e20001db724f/t/610a1b1d4b4e677bd0b0c3e0/1628052256568/TSI</u> <u>+Youth+in+the+South+final+report+Feb2020.pdf</u>
- 2. Bishop, R. & Glynn, T. (1999). Culture counts: changing power relations in education. Palmerston North, New Zealand: Dunmore Press Limited.

- Boyd, D. M., & Ellison, B. N. (2007). Social network sites: definition, history, and scholarship. *Journal of Computer-mediated Communication*, 13 (1), 210-230. doi:10.1111/j.1083-6101.2007.00393.x.
- Hunia, R., Salim, S., McNaughton, S., Menzies, R., Gluckman, P., & Bardsley, A (2020). Addressing rangatahi education: Challenges after COVID-19. Retrieved from <u>https://informedfutures.org/wp-content/uploads/Addressing-rangatahi-education.pdf</u>
- 5. Ministry of Health. (2014) *Tagata Pasifika in New Zealand*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.health.govt.nz/our-work/populations/Pacific-health/tagata-pasifika-new-zealand</u>
- 6. Nesta Education for all (2020). *Education for all: Making the case for a fairer adult learning system.* Retrieved from https://media.nesta.org.uk/documents/Education_For_All__Making_the_case_for_a_fairer_adult_learning_system.pdf
- 7. New Zealand Police. (2021) *Police Ten 7 All Cases*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.police.govt.nz/can-you-help-us/police-ten-7</u>
- 8. O'Keeffe, G. S., & Clarke-Pearson, K. (2011). The impact of social media on children, adolescents, and families. *Paediatrics Official Journal of the American Academy of Paediatrics*, 127 (4), 800-804. doi: 10.1542/peds.2011-0054.
- 9. Parahi, Carmen, & Shepherd, S. (2018). *A Tale of Two Cities: The Inequality That Divides Auckland*. Retrieved from https://interactives.stuff.co.nz/2018/05/a-tale-of-two-cities/
- Plenty, S.M., & Mood, C. (2016). Money, Peers and Parents: Social and Economic Aspects of Inequality in Youth Wellbeing. *Journal of Youth and Adolescence*, 45, 1294 - 1308.
- 11. Silcock, M. S. (2012). Contemporary technology and 10-12 year old childhood constructions: a critical discourse analysis (Masters of Philosophy). Auckland University of Technology, Auckland, New Zealand.
- 12. Smith, L., T. (1999). *Decolonising Methodologies: Research and Indigenous Peoples*. Dunedin, New Zealand: University of Otago Press.
- 13. Subrahmanyam, K., Smahel, D. (2011). Digital Youth. London: Springer. New York: Dordecht Heidelberg.
- The Southern Initiative (2017). If it was in your power, what changes would you make to remove children and young people out of poverty in NZ. Retrieved from https://docs.google.com/document/d/1Zl03b5zNQam5XtkeatKJTxid7eCN5HvCXHIZEEm32f4/edit
- 15. The Southern Initiative. (2018). *TSI Year in Review 2018. Annual report 2017-2018.* Retrieved from https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5cf74c8f2829e20001db724f/t/5d0dc51f74b8d50001ac84f9/1568803249136/Year +In+Review+2018
- 16. The Southern Initiative. (2019a). Creating shared prosperity through the circular economy: Economic Plan for a Productive, Sustainable and Inclusive Economy. Retrieved from <u>https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5cf74c8f2829e20001db724f/t/617f2ab1c0c88069123d73ff/1635723973567/Creating+shared+prosperity+through+the+circular+economy.pdf</u>
- 17. The Southern Initiative. (2019b). *The Southern Initiative Year in Review 2019: Annual report 2018-2019*. Retrieved from
- https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5cf74c8f2829e20001db724f/t/5f0e78c5362e23738bd22e60/1594783971445/TSI YearInReview2019_Singlepage.pdf
- The Southern Initiative (2021). TSI Creating Futures For Pacific high school students: Kidscoin and The Southern Initiative report 2019-2021. Retrieved from https://static1.squarespace.com/static/5cf74c8f2829e20001db724f/t/61727010d6cadf437ed74c92/1634889755347/MO E-KidsCoin-Report-web-%C6%92.pdf
- 19. The Southern Initiative. (2022). Upsouth. Retrieved from https://www.tsi.nz/Upsouth
- 20. UN World Youth Report (2020). Youth Social Entrepreneurship and the 2030 Agenda. retrieved from https://www.un.org/development/desa/youth/wp-content/uploads/sites/21/2020/07/2020-World-Youth-Report-FULL-FINAL.pdf
- 21. Waipareira Trust. (2017). Local Population Snapshot. <u>https://www.waipareira.com/wp-</u> content/uploads/2017/11/TPM6.-Locality-Population-Snapshot-SOUTH-Auckland.pdf
- 22. Walker, R. (1990). Ka whawhai tonu matou: Struggle without end. Auckland, New Zealand: Penguin Books.
- 23. WEFORUM Global Risk Report (2021): *The Global Risks Report 2021: 16th Edition.* Retrieved from https://www.weforum.org/reports/the-global-risks-report-2021

Fog Water for a New Ground

Maria Giovanna Di Bitonto¹ Alara Kutlu¹ Alessandra Zanelli¹

¹Politecnico di Milano, Department of Architecture, Built environment and Construction engineering

Abstract

Water is defined as the blue gold of the 21st century, it is one of the most influential causes of conflicts; in fact, the so-called "water wars" are on constant increase. Water availability strictly determines political, economic and social aspects of territories. The aim of this paper is to give an alternative solution to hydric issues, through a new strategy, that is fog water collection. Fog harvesting is documented to be an efficient system to collect water from fog, as confirmed by projects developed in many locations. Many territories worldwide are affected by the fog phenomenon, those are called "fog oasis", which are mostly located in arid and semi-arid areas. In order to promote fog harvesting as a possible solution to restrain social, political and environmental crises related to water issues, the authors are going to analyze some case studies in Africa. They have been selected on their location characteristics, as fog formation, so that they can be a model appliable in any other fog oasis. Morocco has been documented to be an optimal spot for fog harvesting, here many villages are facing high levels of voluntary male emigration; while women are left in charge of water provision and many demanding tasks. Also in Ethiopia and Eritrea some projects have been developed to take advantage of fog water. At the border between the two states there is the Tekeze River, which is very polluted, and considered as the major cause of illnesses in the populations settled along the river. This same area is also the scenario of the Tigray war, which contributes to scarce water availability.

Keywords

Fog harvesting; Sustainable urban ecology; Water self-sufficiency

- 1. Ashton, P.J. 2000. Southem African water conflicts: are they inevitable or prevent- able? In: Water Wars: Enduring Myth or Impending Reality, Solomon, H. and A.R. Turton (eds), Africa Dialogue Monograph Series No. 2. The African Centre for the Constructive Resolution of Disputes (ACCORD), Durban, South Africa, pp. 62
- Ashton, P.J. and Haasbroek, B. 2002. Water demand management and social adaptive capacity: A South African case study. In: Hydropolitics in the Developing World: A Southern African Perspective, Turton, A.R. and Henwood, R. (eds), Pretoria, African Water Issues Research Unit (AWIRU) and International Water Management Institute (IWMI). (22 pp. - In Press).
- 3. Awoke, A., Beyene, A., Kloos, H., Goethals, P. L., & Triest, L. (2016). River water pollution status and water policy scenario in Ethiopia: raising awareness for better implementation in developing countries. Environmental management, 58(4), 694-706.
- 4. De Waal, A. (2021, November 4). Tigray is starving, it is time for the UN to act. Aljazeera. https://www.aljazeera.com/opinions/2021/11/4/tigray-is-starving-it-is-time-for-the-un-to-act
- 5. Falkenmark, M. 1989. The massive water scarcity now threatening Africa: why isn't it being addressed? Ambio 18, 112-118.
- 6. FAO. 2018. World food and agriculture statistical pocketbook 2018. Rome.
- 7. Fessehaye, M., Abdul-Wahab, S. A., Savage, M. J., Kohler, T., Gherezghiher, T., & Hurni, H. (2017). Assessment of fog-water collection on the eastern escarpment of Eritrea. Water international, 42(8), 1022-1036.
- 8. Gherezghiher, T. (2010, July). Fog Collection Pilot Project (FCPP) in the Eastern Escarpments of Eritrea. In 5th International Conference on Fog (pp. FOGDEW2010-123).
- 9. Gleick, P.H. 1998. The World's Water 1998-1999. Biennial Report on Freshwater Re- sources. Island Press, Washington DC. 217 pp. 3.
- 10. Hobson, B. (2016, November 10). Future makers. Dezeen. https://www.dezeen.com/2016/11/10/video-interview-arturo-vittori-warka-water-tower-ethiopia-sustainable-clean-drinking-water-movie/
- 11. Klemm, O., Schemenauer, R. S., Lummerich, A., Cereceda, P., Marzol, V., Corell, D., ... & Fessehaye, G. M. (2012). Fog as a freshwater resource: overview and perspectives. Ambio, 41(3), 221-234.
- 12. Marzol, M. V., & Sánchez, J. (2008). Fog water harvesting in Ifni, Morocco. An assessment of potential and demand. Die Erde, 139(1-2), 97-119.
- 13. Marzol, M. V., Sánchez, J. L., & Yanes, A. (2011). Meteorological patterns and fog water collection in Morocco and the Canary Islands. Erdkunde, 291-303.
- 14. Mlaba, K. (2021, November 4). What You Need to Know About Tigray's Humanitarian Crisis. https://www.globalcitizen.org/en/content/Key-facts-about-tigrays-humanitarian-crisis/
- 15. Olivier, J. (2002). Fog-water harvesting along the West Coast of South Africa: A feasibility study. Water Sa, 28(4), 349-360.

- 16. Qadir, M., Jiménez, G. C., Farnum, R. L., & Trautwein, P. (2021). Research History and Functional Systems of Fog Water Harvesting. Frontiers in Water, 3, 37.
- 17. Samson, H. (2021, February 20). Eritrea Water Crisis. https://storymaps.arcgis.com/stories/0fd50988b8244e5b8cfca10fe9088c0e
- Schemenauer, R. S., & Cereceda, P. (1994). A proposed standard fog collector for use in high-elevation regions. Journal of Applied Meteorology and Climatology, 33(11), 1313-1322.
- 19. Schemenauer, R. S., & Joe, P. I. (1989). The collection efficiency of a massive fog collector. Atmospheric Research, 24(1-4), 53-69.
- Shanyengana, E. S., Henschel, J. R., Seely, M. K., & Sanderson, R. D. (2002). Exploring fog as a supplementary water source in Namibia. Atmospheric Research, 64(1-4), 251-259.
- 21. Taheripour, F., Tyner, W. E., Haqiqi, I., & Sajedinia, E. (2020). Water Scarcity in Morocco.

A Gender-Sensitive Landscape Planning Approach in Urban Transformation to Improve The Quality of Everyday Life for all *Case Study: Khartoum*

Mariam Mohamed Abdalla Wagialla, PhD

Chairwoman of DANIA for Diversity and Sustainable Development

Abstract

Urban sprawl and socio-spatial segregation are the main features of the urban landscape of rapidly urbanizing cities of sub-Saharan Africa. While people with high incomes live in luxury serviced neighbourhoods, most residents live in inadequate housing in poor serviced neighbourhoods. This situation limits the ability of the population to improve their quality of life and contributes to perpetuating inequality, especially for women and girls on the outskirts of cities. This paper presents a summary of my PhD research output, which aims to provide a proposal on how to achieve equitable and sustainable urban transformation in the cities of Sub-Saharan Africa. The research adopted a gendersensitive urban landscape planning approach that has been validated by applied research examining the case of Khartoum as a city experiencing rapid unorganized urbanization.

To assess urban landscape planning, the structuralist analytical approach was used, which distinguishes between three dimensions of perception: "real", "imaginary" and "symbolic". Accordingly, the real dimension was explored by defining the characteristics of the current urban landscape in Khartoum and its impact on the various users; The imaginary dimension was then explored by evaluating the institutional framework, plans and planning models; The symbolic dimension was revealed by identifying the values and principles on which planning policies and practices are based. Finally, proposals were made on how to change these three dimensions to produce a gendersensitive urban landscape that would improve the quality of everyday life for all.

Key words

Socio-spatial segregation; Sprawl; Urban transformation; Everyday life; Gender equality; Khartoum

- Baldo, S. (2015, 11 22). Beyond the Façades of Khartoum: The rise of Sudan's 'nouveau riche' and increased economic disparity. Paris. Retrieved 8 11, 2016, from http://www.sudantribune.com/: http://www.sudantribune.com/spip.php?article57132
- 2. Bekker and Therborn. (2012). Capital Cities in Africa: Power and powerless,. Cape Town: HSRC Press.
- 3. Bennhold-Thomsen, et al. (2001). *There is an alternative: subsistence and worldwide resistance to corporate globalization,*, . London. New York: Spinifex Press, Zed Books.
- 4. Damyanovic, D. (2007). Landschaftsplanung als Qualitätssicherung zur Umsetzung der Strategie des Gender Mainstreaming. Dissertation. Vienna: Verlag Guthmann-Peterson.
- 5. Fainstein, S and Servon, L. (2005). *Gender and Planning: A Reader*. New Brunswick, New Jersey. and London: Rutgers university press.
- 6. Fainstein, S. (2010). The Just City. Ithaca, New York: Cornell University Press.
- 7. Greed, C. (1994). Women and Planning: Creating gendered reality,. London: Routledge.
- 8. Jarvis, et al. (2009). Cities and Gender. London and New York: Routledge,.
- Kebbede. (1997). Kebbede (1997) Losing Ground: Land Impoverishment In Sudan. Black Studies A Journal of African and Afro-American Studies, 15(8). Retrieved 5 24, 2017, from https://scholarworks.umass.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1102&context=cibs
- 10. Lefebvre, H. (1974/1991). The Production of Space, Translated by Donald Nicholson-Smith. Oxford: Blackwell.
- 11. Massey, D. (1994). Space, Place, and Gender. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press.
- 12. Max-Neef, M. A. (1991). *Human Scale Development Conception, Application and Further Reflections*. London: Zed Books Ltd .
- 13. MEFIT and CENTECTS. (2009a). *Khartoum Structure Plan 2008-2033, Khartoum State, Volume 1.1*. Khartoum: Khartoum State, Ministry of Planning and Physical development.

- Murillo et al. (2009). Diagnosis Studies on Urban Sector, Khartoum State. Khartoum: UN-HABITAT with the MPPPU. Retrieved 06 24, 2016, from https://www.academia.edu/29684436/URBAN_SECTOR_STUDIES_AND_CAPACITY_BUILDING_FOR_KHARTO UM_STATE
- 15. Nussbaum, M. (2000). WOMEN AND HUMAN DEVELOPMENT, The Capabilities Approach. Cambridge, New York: Cambridge university press.
- Pantuliano et al. (2011). City limits: urbanisation and vulnerability in Sudan,. London: Overseas Development Institute (ODI). Retrieved 1 22, 2016, from http://www.odi.org.uk/sites/odi.org.uk/files/odi-assets/publications-opinionfiles/6520.pdf
- 17. Schneider, G. (1989). Die Liebe zur Macht. Über die Reproduktion der Enteignung in der Landschaftspflege. Kassel: Arbeitsgemeinschaft Freiraum und Vegetation (Hrsg.), Eigenverlag.
- 18. Suliman, M. (2006). Sudan wars of resources and identity (in Arabic). Khartoum: Azza Publishing House.
- 19. UN-HABITAT. (2012c). *Gender Issue Guide: urban planning and design.* Nairobi: UN-HABITAT. Retrieved 3 15, 2016, from https://unhabitat.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/07/Gender-Responsive-Urban-Planning-and-Design.pdf
- Wagialla, M. (2020). A GENDER-SENSITIVE LANDSCAPE PLANNING APPROACH IN URBAN TRANSFORMATION TO IMPROVE THE QUALITY OF EVERYDAY LIFE FOR ALL Case Study: Khartoum City. Vienna: University of natural resouces and life sciences (BOKU).

My Mabopane: Using photo-voice to understand local community engagement in urban green spaces in Tshwane, South Africa

Linette Knudsen¹ and Maria Heines¹

¹MSc students, University of Copenhagen

Lwandiso Colo² and Sifiso Tsoro Ngcobo³

²B.Eng student, University of Pretoria ²BSc student, University of Pretoria

Abstract

Rapidly expanding disintegrated urban areas in developing economies are presented with social, climatic, and ecological challenges. Such challenges are expected to increase due to growing rates of urbanisation and new vulnerabilities imposed by climate change over the coming decades. Urban green spaces hold a potential to deliver practical nature-based solutions to climate change and biodiversity loss whilst playing a role in improving the quality of life in vulnerable communities. However, benefits of green spaces can be compromised by unjust decision-making processes and inequitable allocation of costs and benefits within local communities. Through fieldwork carried out in the Mabopane River Corridor, Tshwane, South Africa in spring 2022, we use photo-voice to gain a deeper understanding of how different stakeholders "see", interact, and engage with urban green spaces. The Mabopane River Corridor is an example of an urban green space that is currently underutilised by the local community. Photo-voice adds emphasis to the concept of "seeing" and allows participants to tell stories through visual features, like composition, light and subject. In this respect, we use photo-voice to pluralise ways of seeing the Mabopane River Corridor by capturing the site's multiple functions, benefits, community voices, and visions. To achieve the highest degree of pluralisation, dialogue on the value, opportunities, and challenges of urban green spaces must occur across sectors, e.g. between community members, academia, practitioners, such as city planners and NGO's, and policy makers. Therefore, the photovoice project will culminate in an exhibition where the photos become a prompt for encouraging dialogue between the local community, municipal representatives, and local leaders. This cross-pollination between the community voices, theory, and data will contribute to co-production of new knowledge meant to inform holistic and inclusive planning of urban green spaces. This project is currently in its roll-out phase and full implementation is planned for April 2022. This paper reflects on the opportunities emerging from preparatory photo-voice project activities which can support inclusive urban green space planning.

Keywords

Urban green spaces; Urban planning; Photovoice; South Africa

- 1. Adegun, O. B. (2018). When green is grievous: Downsides in human-nature interactions in informal urban settlements. *Journal of Urbanism: International Research on Placemaking and Urban Sustainability*, 11(3), 347-361.
- 2. Adegun, O. B. (2021). Green Infrastructure Can Improve the Lives of Slum Dwellers in African Cities. *Frontiers in Sustainable Cities*, 3:621051.
- Barry, J., Monahan, C., Monahan, M., Murphy, R., Ferguson, S., Lee, K., Bennett, A., Gibbons, P., & Higgins, A. (2021). "The Road We Travel": Developing a co-produced narrative for a photovoice project. *Journal of Psychiatric and Mental Health Nursing*, 28, 632-643.
- 4. Benyene, G. A. & Borishe, E. N. (2021). Public Urban Green Spaces' Visiting Habits Regarding Their Health Benefits in Addis Ababa City, Ethiopia. *International Journal of Environmental Protection and Policy*, *9*(3), 50-58.
- 5. Berbés-Blázquez, M., González, J. A., & Pascual, U. (2016). Towards an ecosystem services approach that addresses social power relations, *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability*, *19*, 134-143.
- 6. De Vries, L. & Kotze, N. (2016). The revitalisation of parks and open spaces in downtown Johannesburg. *Urbani izziv.* 27(1), 123-131.
- 7. Fiske, E. & Ladd, H. (2021). Racial equity in education: how far has South Africa come?: research article. *Perspectives in Education*, 24(2).

- 8. Girma, Y., Terefe, H., Pauleit, S., & Kindu, M. (2019). Urban green spaces supply in rapidly urbanizing countries: The case of Sebeta Town, Ethiopia. *Remote Sensing Applications: Society and Environment, 13*, 138-149.
- 9. Jennings, V. and Bamkole, O. (2019). The Relationship between Social Cohesion and Urban Green Space: An Avenue for Health Promotion. *International Journal of Environmental Research on Public Health*, *16*(3), 452.
- Pietilä, M., Neuvonen, M., Borodulin, K., Korpela, K., Sievänen, T. & Tyrväinen, L. (2015). "Relationships between exposure to urban green spaces, physical activity, and self-rated health. *Journal of Outdoor Recreation and Tourism, 10*, 44-55.
- 11. Mensah, C. A., Andres, L., Perera, U. & Roji, A. (2016). Enhancing quality of life through the lens of green spaces: A systematic review approach. *International Journal of Wellbeing*, 6(1), 142-163.
- 12. Mhlanga, D. & Garidzirai, R. (2020). The Influence of Racial Differences in the Demand for Healthcare in South Africa: A Case of Public Healthcare. *International Journal of Environmental Research on Public Health*, *17*(4), 5043.
- 13. Munien, S., Nkambule, S. & Buthelezi, H. Z. (2015). Conceptualisation and use of green spaces in peri-urban communities: Experiences from Inanda, KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa. *African Journal for Physical, Health Education, Recreation and Dance*, 155-167.
- 14. Myburgh, N. G, Solanki, G. C, Smith, M. J. & Lalloo, R. (2005). Patient satisfaction with health care providers in South Africa: the influences of race and socioeconomic status. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care*, 17(6), 473-477.
- 15. Nesbitt, L., Meitner, M. J., Sheppard, R. J., & Girling, C. (2018). The dimensions of urban green equity: A framework for analysis. *Urban Forestry & Urban Greening*, *34*, 240-248.
- 16. Powers, M. C. F & Freedman (2012). Applying a Social Justice Framework to Photovoice REsearch on Environmental Issues: A Comprehensive Literature Review, *13*(2), 80-100.
- 17. Schreiner, B. & van Koppen, B. (2003). Policy and law for addressing poverty, race and gender in the water sector: the case of South Africa. *Water Policy*, *5*, 489-501.
- 18. Shackleton, C. M. & Blair, A. (2013). Perceptions and use of public green spaces is influenced by its relative abundance in two small towns in South Africa. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, *112*, 104-112.
- 19. Shackleton, C. M. & Gwedla, N. (2021). The Legacy Effects of Colonial and Apartheid Imprints on Urban Greening in South Africa: Spaces, Species, and Sustainability. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution*, 8:579813.
- 20. Shackleton, C. M. & Njwaxu, A. (2021). Does the absence of community involvement underpin the demise of urban neighbourhood parks in the Eastern Cape, South Africa?. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 207, 104006.
- 21. Sutton-Brown, C. A. (2014). Photovoice: A Methodological Guide. Photography and Culture, 7(2), 169-185.
- Venter, Z. S., Shackleton, C. M., Van Staden, F., Selomane, O. & Masterson, V. A. (2020). Green Apartheid: Urban green infrastructure remains unequally distributed across income and race geographies in South Africa. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 203, 103889.
- 23. Wang, C. & Burris, M. (1997). Photovoice: Concept, methodology, and use for participatory needs assessment. *Health Education Quarterly*, 21, 171-181.
- 24. Zhong, J, Li, Z, Sun, Z., Tian, Y. & Yang, F. (2020). The spatial equilibrium analysis of urban green space and human activity in Chengdu. *China. Journal of Cleaner Production*, 259, 120754.

Re-imagining the role of climate finance in promoting a just transition: The case of post- apartheid divided towns in South Africa's Northern Cape Province.

Sonwabile Lugogo

Masters Candidate in the Chair in Critical Architecture and Urbanism, University of Pretoria, South Africa

Abstract

As part of its low carbon development ambitions in 2011 South Africa adopted the Renewable Energy Independent Power Producer Procurement Programme (REIPPPP). REIPPPP is aimed at accelerating South Africa's decarbonisation process through driving the uptake of renewable energy. Several renewable energy projects have been developed across the country. Some of these projects are located in South Africa's small and rural towns. As part of REIPPPP policy renewable energy projects are obligated to support communities located within 50 km radius of where they operate. In this paper I am interested in investigating whether the Independent Power Producers (IPPs) which are located in Siyathemba Local Municipality (SLM) are contributing to socio- economic development initiatives in Prieska, Niekerkshoop and Marydale which are located in SLM. SLM has five IPPs (wind generation and solar PV) which are fully operational. Existing research suggests that channelling climate finance at local level has the potential to intensify distributional justice by increasing the share of resources to deliver more just processes and outcomes (Colenbrander et al, 2018). In the context of South Africa there is limited research which has investigated whether the 2% of revenues provided by IPPs have actually translated into socio- economic opportunities in beneficiary communities. Majority of the information that is available in the public domain is provided by the Department of Energy and IPPs. As an urban geographer who is interested in development issues, I plan to explore whether small rural and remote towns in South Africa, which are some of the most divided urban spaces, are benefiting from the mobilised climate finance.

Keywords

Climate Change; Small Towns; Renewable Energy; Development; Just Transition

- 1. Colenbrander, S, Dodman, D and Mitlin, D. (2018). Using climate finance to advance climate justice: the politics and practice of channelling resources to the local level. *Climate Policy*. 18 (7), pp. 1-22.
- Department of Energy. (2019). The South African Energy Sector Report 2019. Department of Energy, South Africa. Available Online: <u>http://www.energy.gov.za/files/media/explained/2019-</u> <u>South-African-Energy-Sector-Report.pdf</u>. Accessed: 28 March 2022.
- 3. Department of Mineral Resources and Energy. (2020). REIPPPP focus on Northern Cape Provincial Report Volume 1. Pretoria, South Africa. Available Online: <u>https://www.ipp-projects.co.za/Publications</u>. Accessed: 28 March 2022.
- 4. Okkonen, L and Lehtonen, O. (2016). Socio-economic impacts of community wind power projects in Northern Scotland. *Renewable Energy*, 85, pp. 826-833
- 5. Olusegun, S, A. (2002). Selecting a quantitative or qualitative research methodology: An experience. *Educational Research Quarterly*, 26 (1), pp. 3-10.
- 6. Soanes, M, Rai, N, Steele, P, Shakya, C and Macgregor, J. (2017). *Delivering real change: Getting international climate finance to the local level*. IIED Working Paper. IIED, London.
- Statistics South Africa. (2016). Community Survey Statistical Release. Statistics South Africa, Pretoria. Available Online: <u>http://cs2016.statssa.gov.za/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/NT-30-06-2016-RELEASE-for-CS-2016-Statistical-releas_1-July-2016.pdf</u>. Accessed: 28 March 2022.
- 8. Statistics South Africa. (2018). *General Household Survey*. South Africa, Pretoria. Available Online: https://www.statssa.gov.za/publications/P0318/P03182018.pdf. Accessed: 28 March 2022.

The role of the architectural profession within the Upgrading of Informal Settlements Programme (UISP) in South Africa

Jason Oberholster^a, Carin Combrinck^b and Hettie Schönfeldt^c

^aPhD Candidate (Architecture), Professional Architect and Part Time Lecturer in the Department of Architecture, University of Pretoria, South Africa.

^bDoctor of Architecture, Professional Architect and Senior Lecturer in the Department of Architecture, University of Pretoria, South Africa.

^cProfessor of Natural and Agricultural Sciences at the University of Pretoria, South Africa. Co-director of ARUA CaBFoods-Africa and DSI/NRF/NDP SARChI Chair in Nutrition and Food Security.

Abstract

South Africa has a progressive human settlements policy that makes provision for the in-situ upgrading of informal settlements, aimed towards the holistic integration of informal settlements into the urban and socio-economic fabric of cities. The 2009 National Housing Code includes the Upgrading of Informal Settlements Programme (UISP), and the National Upgrading Support Programme (NUSP) that was established to facilitate the implementation of the UISP. This policy approach advocates for the involvement of, and collaboration between government, civil society and the affected communities. However, the rising number of informal settlements and the dissatisfaction amongst informal settlement dwellers indicate a disjunction between these policies and the implementation thereof.

This growing concern on informal settlements forms part of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, where integrated development policies related to informal settlements are prioritised, promoting policies linked to urban planning, financing, legal and livelihood components. It is argued that upgrading initiatives should be the result of a wide and inclusive participatory process, involving governments, public and private sectors, appropriate professionals and most importantly the communities as a key stakeholder.

Despite indications that the architectural profession has a role to play in the upgrading of informal settlements, their participation in these upgrading processes remain poorly defined and unrecognised. This paper reflects on two aspects emanating from this disjuncture within the South African context: Firstly, how do architectural professionals participate in the upgrading of informal settlements? Secondly, how does the architectural profession contribute towards this upgrading process? In deliberation of these two matters, the paper will investigate the potential role of architectural professionals within the UISP and NUSP.

The evident benefits of critical engagement by architectural professionals with informal settlement communities are illustrated through examples of projects undertaken in the South African context. The architectural professionals took on various roles of facilitator, collaborator, contributor and stakeholder. These roles have enabled a shared understanding of the contextual needs of each community, beyond the conventional investigations within the UISP, in that way empowering these communities to envision beyond the evident, and assisting in balancing the collective aspirations of the individuals. These examples demonstrate a possible contribution by architects towards ensuring the future livelihoods of these communities, working towards achieving spatial equity through spatial agency.

Keywords

meaningful engagement; facilitation; community participation; community engagement; spatial agency; in-situ upgrade

- 1. Architizer. 2017. *EMPOWER SHACK by Urban-Think Tank, Architizer*. Available at: <u>https://architizer.com/projects/empower-shack/</u> (Accessed: 25 March 2022).
- 2. Awan, N., Schneider, T. and Till, J. 2013. *Spatial Agency: Other Ways of Doing Architecture*. London: Routledge. doi:10.4324/9781315881249.
- 3. Boonyabancha, S. (2005) 'Baan Mankong: going to scale with "slum" and squatter upgrading in Thailand', *Environment and Urbanization*, 17(1), pp. 21–46. doi:10.1177/095624780501700104.

- 4. Cirolia, L.R. Görgens, T. Van Donk, M. Smit, M and Drimmie, S. 2016. *Upgrading Informal Settlements in South Africa: Pursuing a partnership-based approach*. Cape Town, South Africa: UCT Press.
- Combrinck, C. 2015. A model to address marginality of the architectural profession in the South African discourse on informal settlement upgrade. Thesis. University of Pretoria. Available at: <u>https://repository.up.ac.za/handle/2263/50863</u> (Accessed: 19 August 2021).
- 6. Combrinck, C. and Bennett, J. 2016. 'Navigating hostile territory? Where participation and design converge in the upgrade debate', in *Upgrading Informal Settlements in South Africa: Pursuing a partnership-based approach*. Cape Town, South Africa: UCT Press, pp. 305–322.
- 7. CS Studio. 2008. *Wesbank Multi-purpose Centre*. CS Studio. Available at: <u>https://csstudio.co.za/PDF/WESbankmpc.pdf</u> (Accessed: 30 March 2022).
- 8. Equity Studio. 2011. *Delft Symphony Way: New Community Day Centre*. CS Studio. Available at: https://csstudio.co.za/PDF/delft.pdf (Accessed: 30 March 2022).
- Groat, L.N. and Wang, D. 2013. Architectural Research Methods. Somerset, UNITED STATES: John Wiley & Sons, Incorporated. Available at: <u>http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/pretoria-ebooks/detail.action?docID=1166322</u> (Accessed: 25 October 2021).
- Huchzermeyer, M. 2011. Cities with Slums: From Informal Settlement Eradication to a Right to the City in Africa. Claremont, UNITED STATES: Juta Academic. Available at: <u>http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/pretoria-ebooks/detail.action?docID=991016</u> (Accessed: 8 June 2021).
- 11. iShack Project. 2016 *iShack Project: Providing solar energy to under-served communities*. Available at: <u>https://www.ishackproject.co.za/</u> (Accessed: 25 March 2022).
- Kivunja, C. and Kuyini, A.B. 2017. 'Understanding and Applying Research Paradigms in Educational Contexts', International Journal of Higher Education, 6(5), pp. 26–41. Available at: <u>https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1154775</u> (Accessed: 26 October 2021).
- 13. Lefore, N. 2015.Case study.Strengthening facilitation competencies in development: processes, challenges and lessons of a learning alliance to develop facilitators for local community engagement.
- 14. Melvin, J. 2017. 'The Table House in Cape Town, South Africa by Noero Architects and Rainer Hehl', *Architectural Review*, 2 August. Available at: <u>https://www.architectural-review.com/buildings/the-table-house-in-cape-town-south-africa-by-noero-architects-and-rainer-hehl</u> (Accessed: 31 March 2022).
- 15. Nowell, L.S. Norris, JM. White, DE. & Moules, NE. 2017. 'Thematic Analysis: Striving to Meet the Trustworthiness Criteria', *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 16(1), p. 1609406917733847. doi:<u>10.1177/1609406917733847</u>.
- PSUP. 2015. 'Slum Almanac 2015-2016: Tracking Improvement in the Lives of Slum Dwellers', p. 98. Available at: <u>https://unhabitat.org/sites/default/files/documents/2019-05/slum_almanac_2015-2016_psup.pdf</u> (Accessed: 26 October 2021).

Building bridges between actors and territories in Mexico City. Challenges, opportunities, and paradoxes of sustainable food initiatives.

Ayari G. Pasquier Merinoa, David S. Monachonb and Sofía Espinosa Bonifaze

a Associated Researcher at the Center for Interdisciplinary Research in Sciences and Humanities Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, Mexico City, Mexico. b Head of the Sustainable Consumption Department of the University Coordination for Sustainability at the Universidad Nacional Autónoma de, México Mexico City, Mexico. d Postgraduate student in Sustainability Sciences at the Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México Mexico City, Mexico.

Abstract

This research focuses on the links created by "sustainable food" initiatives between spaces and social sectors in urban and peri-urban areas. The research is developed in Mexico City as part of an action-research project developed by an interdisciplinary team.

Mexico City concentrates the economic and political powers of the country and has well-being indicators above the national average; however, it harbors enormous socioeconomic inequalities. 59% of its territory is considered as "conservation land area" and includes forests, wetlands and areas dedicated to food production. This area is considered as a priority for the city due to the ecosystem services it provides, however, it is socially relegated and most of its inhabitants face poverty and lack of public services.

We document the experience of a small but growing number of food producers with great initiative interested in reducing the environmental impacts of their activities, who have built links with citizen collectives and consumers dissatisfied with the dominant food system. Although there is a common narrative regarding the collective construction of fairer and more sustainable food schemes, these initiatives are often directed to exclusive consumer sectors and are part of a gentrification process underway in the city, reproducing or even reinforcing the existing disparities. In some sectors, however, there are efforts to counteract this trend through links between producers and consumers that go beyond the economic transaction, seeking to build strategies of co-responsibility and solidarity relationships. Our project is currently working with this sector, seeking to promote the collective reflection on what a "sustainable food" should be like and what are the best strategies to build it, integrating scientific and local knowledges in the construction of a Participatory Guarantee System and other institutional proposals that seek to contribute to the construction of sustainable, fair and inclusive food systems in the city.

Keywords

Sustainable food systems; Food justice; Urban food policies; Knowledge co-construction; Alternative Food Networks

- Bracamontes, L. (2019). Entre pertenecer y transformar: viabilidad económica y social de una red alimentaria alternativa en la Ciudad de México. [Tesis].
 http://doch.wog.uom.mx/mdr/imagor/Tegis/Magstris/Procemontes_Naiore_Luis_Alfredo.pdf.
 - http://dcsh.xoc.uam.mx/podr/images/Tesis/Maestria/Bracamontes_Najera_Luis_Alfredo.pdf
- 2. Bricas N. (2020). "Las ciudades frente a los desafíos de la alimentación sostenible", A.G. Pasquier Merino y M. Bertran Vilà, *Alimentación, salud y sustentabilidad. Hacia una agenda de investigación*, Ciudad de México: UNAM.
- Cadavid-Castro, M. A., Álvarez, L. S., Quintero, S. D., Martínez, X., y Martínez-López, A. P. (2019). Redes alimentarias alternativas de Medellín y el Oriente de Antioquia: espacios de construcción de confianza. *Perspectivas En Nutrición Humana*, 21(1), 53-69. doi.org/10.17533/udea.penh.v21n1a05
- 4. CONEVAL. (2020). Anexo estadístico por entidades 2016-2020.
- 5. Corsi, A., Barbera, F., Dansero, E. y Peano, C. (2018). Alternative Food Networks An Interdisciplinary Assessment. Palgrave Macmillan. doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-90409-2

- 6. Olivier De Schutter. (2017). The political economy of food systems reform, *European Review of Agricultural Economics*, 44(4), https://doi.org/10.1093/erae/jbx009.
- 7. Escalona, Aguilar, Miguel, Ángel. (2009). *Los tianguis y mercados locales de alimentos ecológicos en México: su papel en el consumo, la producción y la conservación de la biodiversidad y cultura.* España, Universidad de Córdoba, Instituto de Sociología y Estudios Campesinos, Departamento de Ciencias Sociales y Humanidades,
- Espinosa de la Mora D.M., L. Bracamontes Nejera, D.S. Monachon. (2020). Redes alimentarias alternativas: desafíos para la acción colectiva y la construcción de una política agroalimentaria incluyente, D. Prunier, J. Le Gal, A.G. Pasquier y D.M. Espinosa de la Mora. *Justicia y soberanía alimentaria en las Américas. Desigualdades, alimentación y agricultura.* México: UNAM, CEMCA, U. LYON, F. BOELL.
- 9. FAO. (2015). Agricultura urbana y periurbana en América Latina y el Caribe. Ciudad de México. Recuperado de http://www.fao.org/ag/agp/greenercities/es/CMVALC/ciudad_de_mexico.html
- 10. Gaceta Oficial de la Ciudad de México. (2019). México. https://www.consejeria.cdmx.gob.mx/gaceta-oficial
- 11. Gravante, T. (2019). Prácticas y redes de autonomía alimentaria en la Ciudad de México:
- 12. un acercamiento etnográfico. Interdisciplina, 7(19), 163-179. doi.org/10.22201/ceiich.24485705e.2019.19.70292
- 13. González-Romero, G. y Cánovas-García, F. (2021). Territorio y redes alimentarias
- 14. alternativas: experiencias en la ciudad de Sevilla. Documents d'Anàlisi Geogràfica,
- 15. 67(3), 389-415. doi-org.pbidi.unam.mx:2443/10.5565/rev/dag.660
- 16. Jarosz, L. (2008). The city in the country: Growing alternative food networks in Metropolitan areas. *Journal of Rural Studies* 24(3). doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2007.10.002
- Lazos Chavero, H. (2020). Impactos socioambientales de los sistemas agroalimentarios: recrudecimiento de las desigualdades sociales, D. Prunier, J. Le Gal, A.G. Pasquier y D.M. Espinosa de la Mora. *Justicia y soberanía alimentaria en las Américas. Desigualdades, alimentación y agricultura*. México: UNAM, CEMCA, U. LYON, F. BOELL.
- Méndez, R., y Monteserín, O. (2017). Redes alimentarias alternativas en grandes ciudades: los mercados de productores agrarios en Madrid. Cuadernos Geográficos, 56(1). doi.org/10.30827/cuadgeo.v56i1.4049
- 19. Sosa Cabrera, E., J. Morett-Sánchez. (2019). "Transformaciones del sistema agroalimentario en la Zona Metropolitana del Valle de México", *Estudios Sociales. Revista de Alimentación Contemporánea y Desarrollo Regional*, 29(3).
- van Bers, C., Delaney, A., Eakin, H., Cramer, L., Purdon, M., Oberlack, C., Evans, T., Pahl-Wostl, C., Eriksen, S., Jones, L., Korhonen-Kurki, K., & Vasileiou, I. (2019). Advancing the research agenda on food systems governance and transformation. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability*, *39*, pp. 94-102. doi:10.1016/j.cosust.2019.08.00
- 21. Weber H., K. Poeggel, H. Eakin, D. Fischer, D.J. Lang, H. Von Wehrden y A. Wiek. (2020). "What are the ingredients for food systems change towards sustainability? Insights from the literature", *Environmental Research Letters*, 15.

Collaborative design experiences in rejected Spatialities towards an insurgent urbanism

Dr. Juliana Canedo¹ and Prof. Dr. Luciana da Silva Andrade²

¹ Researcher at Habitat Unit institute of the Technical University of Berlin, Germany

² Professor at PROURB / Faculty of Architecture and Urbanism from the Federal University of Rio de Janeiro, Brazil.

Abstract

This paper aims to debate collaborative practices in the field of urban design and architecture that emerge in rejected spatialities as potential ways to develop an insurgent urbanism. Our proposal debate is based on the technical assistance and research activities developed in collaboration with social movements and residents of a self-organized squat in Brazil since 2014 and dialogues with the more recent experience of workshops and activities at a Refugee Shelter in Berlin. In this context, we developed a critical reflection of the integrative and co-productive role of architects, planners and designers in these spaces, and from our experience concluded that there is an urgent need to rethink the tools, methods and general training of these professionals.

Keywords

Rejected Spatialities; Collaborative design; Squat; Refugee shelter; Insurgent urbanism;

- 1. Agier, M. (2011). Managing the Undesirables: Refugee camps and humanitarian government. Polity Press.
- 2. de Sousa Santos, B. (2007). Beyond Abyssal Thinking: From Global Lines to Ecologies of Knowledges. *Review (Fernand Braudel Center)*, 30(1), 45–89.
- 3. de Souza, M. L. (2006). Social movements as 'critical urban planning' agents. *City*, *10*(3), 327–342. https://doi.org/10.1080/13604810600982347
- 4. Harvey, D. (2000). Spaces of Hope. University of California Press.
- 5. Krätke, S. (2014). Cities in Contemporary Capitalism: Cities in contemporary capitalism. *International Journal of Urban and Regional Research*, *38*(5), 1660–1677. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-2427.12165
- 6. Latour, B. (1993). We Have Never Been Modern. Harvard University Press.
- 7. Lefebvre, H. (1968). Le droit à la ville. Anthropos.
- 8. Marcuse, P. (2009). From critical urban theory to the right to the city. *City*, *13*(2–3), 185–197. https://doi.org/10.1080/13604810902982177
- Miraftab, F. (2015). Insurgent Planning: Situating Radical Planning in the Global South. In S. S. Fainstein & J. DeFilippis (Eds.), *Readings in Planning Theory* (pp. 480–498). John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119084679.ch24
- 10. Roy, A. (2011). Slumdog Cities: Rethinking Subaltern Urbanism: Rethinking subaltern urbanism. *International Journal of Urban and Regional Research*, 35(2), 223–238. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2427.2011.01051.x

The political and democratic city: the place of difference

Carolina de Oliveira Almeida¹, Denise Morado Nascimento²

¹Master's student at School of Architecture, Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais (UFMG), Brazil

²Professor at School of Architecture, Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais (UFMG), Brazil; Coordinator of PRAXIS-EA/UFMG

Abstract

From the threats to democracy and the emergence of neo-fascist movements to the increasing inequality, all present in the divided urban spaces, this article intends to discuss the contemporary relationship between politics, democracy and place, as the locus of individual's or community's identity and as a scale of everyday life. The proposal points to the importance of being transformed by the Others and their differences, as a premise of transdisciplinarity, to rethink urban tools which could help onto producing democratic social cities where the subversion of institutional arrangements and their dominant practices might be possible. The starting point is to briefly address the distinctions of democracy concepts that have resurfaced the contemporary times. This article shall highlight democracy theories that contribute at the comprehension of difference as the locus of political collaboration through concepts of political and politics developed by Chantal Mouffe and Thamy Pogrebinschi, in opposition to hegemonic democracy models. Secondly, Freudian concepts are brought up to distinct difference and inequality in order to understand that democracy does not necessarily or clearly imply equality. Then, understanding the place as the emerging space for the expression of the political, the article demonstrates how narratives of the residents may reveal the complexity of relationships, experiences, identities, conflicts and singularities of their living place, far away from the institutional view from the State. The final goal is to critically present another approach to the practice of urban planning which brings difference as a transdisciplinary strategy that could emerge the desired democracy, meaning the exercise of politics. At the end, the article will be briefly presented the digital platform - Reading the place -, which is based on such an approach.

Keywords

Democracy; Reading the place; Political

- Azevedo, H. P. L. (2011). Planejamento e Gestão Municipal: planos diretores avanços e alertas na implementação. In: R. Faria & B. Shavarsberg (Eds.). *Políticas urbanas e regionais no Brasil*. Brasília: Universidade de Brasília, Faculdade de Arquitetura e Urbanismo (pp.33-49)
- 2. Cresswell, T. (2009). Place. In N. Thrift & R. Kitchen (Eds.). *International Encyclopedia of Human Geography*. Vol. 8. Oxford: Elsevier (pp. 169-177). https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-008044910-4.00310-2
- 3. Morado Nascimento, D. (2020). O sistema de exclusão na cidade neoliberal brasileira. Marília: Lutas Anticapital.
- 4. Morado Nascimento, D., Iglessias, W. S. & Weimann, P. E. V. (2019). Ler os territórios para DESENCRIPTAR a cidade. *Revista Políticas Públicas & Cidades*. Vol. 7 (pp. 20-36)
- 5. Mouffe, C. (2005). On the political. London: Routledge.
- 6. Nassif, T. (2016). *Linguagem técnica e (im)possibilidades para a produção democrática do espaço urbano: uma análise a partir de duas experiências participativas em Belo horizonte.* (Master's thesis). Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais, Escola de Arquitetura.
- Rolnik, R. & Cymbalista, R. (2000). Regulação urbanística no Brasil: conquistas e desafios de um modelo em construção. In: *Seminário Internacional: Gestão da terra urbana e habitação de interesse social*. Campinas: PUCCAMP.

Social and spatial transformation in South Africa: Opportunities and possibilities of collaboration

Tariq Toffa

Architecture and Industrial Design, Tshwane University of Technology, South Africa

Abstract

'Social transformation', in general terms, can be understood as a meta-framework of 'big change' across the entire social realm, including the political, economic, technological, demographic and cultural spheres. The African National Congress (ANC), South Africa's ruling party since 1994, described its post-colonial/apartheid 'programme of social transformation' similarly, as a "comprehensive" one across "society, the state and the economy", and addressing "material conditions" as well as "class, gender and race" and securing "values of human solidarity". Transformation is thus an extensive, quantitative and qualitative vision, with both tangible and intangible outcomes that are echoed in the South African Constitution's promotion of not only "quality of life" but also 'healing' and 'unity'. Alongside this vision of transformation has also been the notion of 'spatial transformation', to spatially manifest these ideals.

Despite transformation being an ideal to which the ruling party remains committed, its nature, desired form and extent has been contested even within the ANC-led alliance. Moreover, critiques highlight some of the dominant frameworks it exists within and is often subsumed by, such as neoliberal and technocratic models and practices. The programme of social transformation is also an evolving framework. In recent years, governmental documents and policy has increasingly recognized that to achieve the goals of a broad and multi-faceted transformation, partnerships and collaboration across different sectors of society is crucial. Globally this approach has generally come to be known as an 'all-of-society' (AOS) approach to governance.

Using governmental and academic literature, the paper will study some of the key definitions, contestations, and critiques of post-apartheid transformation, as well as current directions. It will speculate on some of the benefits or 'new grounds' of emerging collaborative models, such as the potential for greater attention to contextual particularities, integration, sustainability, and the diversity of social actors' contexts, resources and contributions.

Keywords

Social transformation; Spatial transformation; All-of-society; Collaboration

Part III Territories and Taxonomies

Spatial Inequality Of Accessibility To Urban Parks: case study of Auckland public housing developments

I-Ting Chuang¹, Jessie Colbert², and Katarzyna Sila-Nowicka³

 ¹ Lecture of School of Architecture and Planning, University of Auckland, New Zealand
 ² Research Assistant of Faculty of Medical and Health Sciences, University of Auckland, New Zealand
 ³ Lecture of Geographic Information Science in the School of Environment, University of Auckland, New Zealand.

Abstract

The impact of poor spatial accessibility of urban parks is specifically critical for the more disadvantaged population that suffers from greater risks of social-economical related health inequalities. In this paper, we use mobile locational dataset collected in 2020 to investigate accessibility to urban green spaces for the top (with) and bottom (without) 25% public housing neighbourhoods in Auckland region, New Zealand. We analysed the distance from residents' home locations and centroids of a 300mx300m grid, to the nearest park by both Euclidean and network analysis and explored the relation between accessibility to urban green and neighbourhood deprivation (indexed by the New Zealand Index of Multiple Deprivation 2018). The results reveal that neighbourhoods with a higher deprivation index quintile ranking also have lower accessibility to urban greens in Auckland, highlighting the urgency to address the emerging inequalities in accessibility and opportunities for these neighbourhoods.

Keywords

Urban Park; Accessibility; Auckland Public Housing; Mobile Location Data; Gravity Models, Mobility

- 1. Dai, D. (2011). Racial/ethnic and socioeconomic disparities in urban green space accessibility: Where to intervene? *Landscape and Urban Planning*, *102*(4), 234–244. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.LANDURBPLAN.2011.05.002
- Exeter, D. J., Zhao, J., Crengle, S., Lee, A., & Browne, M. (2017). The New Zealand indices of multiple deprivation (IMD): a new suite of indicators for social and health research in Aotearoa, New Zealand. *PloS one*, *12*(8), e0181260. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0181260
- Fan, P., Xu, L., Yue, W., & Chen, J. (2017). Accessibility of public urban green space in an urban periphery: The case of Shanghai. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 165, 177–192. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.LANDURBPLAN.2016.11.007
- 4. Feng, S., Chen, L., Sun, R., Feng, Z., Li, J., Khan, M. S., & Jing, Y. (2019). The distribution and accessibility of urban parks in Beijing, China: Implications of social equity. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *16*(24). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16244894
- Gong, L., Morikawa, T., Yamamoto, T., & Sato, H. (2014). Deriving personal trip data from GPS data: A literature review on the existing methodologies. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 138, 557-565. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SBSPRO.2014.07.239
- Heo, S., Nori-Sarma, A., Kim, S., Lee, J. T., & Bell, M. L. (2021). Do persons with low socioeconomic status have less access to greenspace? Application of accessibility index to urban parks in Seoul, South Korea. *Environmental Research Letters*, 16(8). https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ac12f1
- 7. Iraegui, E., Augusto, G., & Cabral, P. (2020). Assessing equity in the accessibility to urban green spaces according to different functional levels. ISPRS *International Journal of Geo-Information*, 9(5). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijgi9050308
- 8. Oh, K., & Jeong, S. (2007). Assessing the spatial distribution of urban parks using GIS. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 82(1–2), 25–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.LANDURBPLAN.2007.01.014
- Schubert, E., Sander, J., Ester, M., Kriegel, H. P., & Xu, X. (2017). DBSCAN revisited, revisited: why and how you should (still) use DBSCAN. ACM Transactions on Database Systems (TODS), 42(3), 1-21. https://doi.org/10.1145/3068335

- Siła-Nowicka, K., Vandrol, J., Oshan, T., Long, J. A., Demšar, U., & Fotheringham, A. S. (2016). Analysis of human mobility patterns from GPS trajectories and contextual information. *International Journal of Geographical Information Science*, 30(5), 881-906. https://doi.org/10.1080/13658816.2015.1100731
- 11. Tan, P. Y., & Samsudin, R. (2017). Effects of spatial scale on assessment of spatial equity of urban park provision. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, *158*, 139–154. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.LANDURBPLAN.2016.11.001
- 12. Te Tūāpapa Kura Kāinga Ministry of Housing and Urban Development. (2021). A place-based approach to housing and urban development. Retrieved March 31, 2022, from https://www.hud.govt.nz/urban-development/place-based-approach/
- 13. Tu, X., Huang, G., Wu, J., & Guo, X. (2020). How do travel distance and park size influence urban park visits?. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening, 52, 126689. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.UFUG.2020.126689
- 14. UberMedia. (2019). Data Dictionary. Retrieved April 1, 2021, from https://um.co/portfolio/data-dictionary/
- 15. Wang, Q., & Lan, Z. (2019). Park green spaces, public health and social inequalities: Understanding the interrelationships for policy implications. *Land* Use *Policy*, *83*, 66–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.LANDUSEPOL.2019.01.026
- White, M. P., Alcock, I., Wheeler, B. W., & Depledge, M. H. (2013). Would you be happier living in a greener urban area? A fixed-effects analysis of panel data. *Psychological science*, 24(6), 920-928. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797612464659
- 17. Wu, L., & Kim, S. K. (2021). Does socioeconomic development lead to more equal distribution of green space? Evidence from Chinese cities. *Science of The Total Environment*, 757, 143780. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2020.143780
- 18. Wu, H., Liu, L., Yu, Y., & Peng, Z. (2018). Evaluation and planning of urban green space distribution based on mobile phone data and two-step floating catchment area method. *Sustainability*, *10*(1), 214. https://doi.org/10.3390/SU10010214

'Most colonial' architecture; Orientalist architecture of Bosnia and Herzegovina along the border between national discourses

Lejla Dzumhur¹

¹Asst. Prof., Faculty of Architecture, University of Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina

Abstract

The paper discusses the matter of placing Orientalist architecture, created during the Austro-Hungarian colonial administration in BiH (1878-1918), in segregation of the areas of dominant national discourses in Bosnia and Herzegovina.

The basic indicators and factors of such policy of segregation are discussed in the first part. Moving along the line past-present, three basic causes/tendencies are identified: permanent trend of identifying and integrating expanded notions of orientalism and Islam spreading in the national construct of the community of Bosnian Muslims; incorporation of conflicting elements of nationalistic discourses within the image of destruction of the Sarajevo City Hall, built in Orientalist style; as well as the echo of the imaginary Other, whose meaning is altered nowadays in line with the trend of "imagining the place" and anti-globalisation.

Was this architectural expression really initially designed for the Muslim national community, has been questioned within the post-colonial studies about the narrative of the Austro-Hungarian Monarchy, as the centre of power, and it has been concluded that it is a sort of gesture of colony towards this confessional/national group. However, what all these studies miss is the view of periphery and/or forum of Bosnian Muslims in the colonial era. How, and whether this expression is indeed viewed as one of the construction blocks of its own national identity?

Given the lack of first-person documents, who could assist in clarifying this phenomenon, the illustrative samples of literary narrative of periphery were used, namely, the periodicals from 1878-1918, complemented by additional relevant historic references. They depict a broader state of mind of local community of Muslims, perception of its place in the *new world* and self-struggle over accepting or rejecting individual modernisation norms.

This part of discussion shall be concluded with the stance that any form of visual presentation of Austro-Hungarian Monarchy, including Orientalist architecture, could not be adopted, uniquely or in a major extent, by the forum of Bosnian Muslims, and transcendent the social differences vertically.

The last part of the paper shall sketch a broader matter of the meaning of Orientalist architecture through interface of colonial paradigm and functional typology of the style. The typological analysis suggests that the oriental architecture is essentially a colonial practice within the domain of explaining the identity of the Other, not only a different but also as historically at a lower level, including also the classic phantasm of European colonies about the Orient. Muslim national element had a regulatory role exclusively as a factor, which, either as imagination of Other or politically, ensured the colonial role.

Keywords

Orientalist architecture; national identity; narrative of periphery; colonial policy

- 1. Alić, D. (2002). Transposed Meanings: The Town Hall in Sarajevo. Open House International 27(4), 20-31.
- 2. Alić, D. (2010). *Transformations of the oriental in the architectural work of Juraj Neidhardt and Dušan Grabrijan*. [Doctoral dissertation, University of New South Wales, Sydney].
- 3. Baotić, A. (2012). Orijentalizam u prikazima Bosne i Hercegovine pod austrougarskom upravom na međunarodnim i svjetskim izložbama. *Sophos*, *5*, 107-130.
- 4. Bosanska vila (1886, August 16). O stanju današnje narodne privrede i o načinu, kojim bi se to stanje popraviti moglo. Bošnjak.

- 5. Bošnjak (1881, June 16). Neki stranci prema Bošnjacima (ili šešir prema fesu i saruku). Bošnjak.
- 6. Bošnjak. (1898, June 21). Nasi bijedni odnošaji. Bošnjak.
- 7. Çelik, Z. (1992). *Displaying the Orient: Architecture of Islam at Nineteenth Century World's Fairs*. Berkley, University of California Press.
- 8. Çelik, Z. (1992a). Le Corbusier, Orientalism, Colonialism. Assemblage 17, 58-77.
- Clark, J. (2018). The destruction of cultural heritage in armed conflict: the 'human element' and the jurisprudence of the icty', *International Criminal Law Review*, 18(1), 36-66. <u>https://doi.org/10.1163/15718123-01801005</u>
- 10. Dervisević H. (2021). From Orientalism to Self-Orientalism in the Bosnian Context. Znakovi vremena, 89/90, 139-155.
- 11. Fejzić E. and Fejzić I. (2018:78-79). Sarajevska čaršija od Mustaj-pašinog mejdana do Telala. Sarajevo, Arhitektonski Fakultet.
- 12. Hajdarpašić, E. (2008). Out of the Ruins of the Ottoman Empire: Reflections on the Ottoman Legacy in South-eastern Europe, *Middle Eastern Studies*, 44(5), 715-734, <u>10.1080/00263200802285278</u>.
- 13. Hall, C. (2002). Civilising Subjects. Metropole and Colony in the English Imagination, 1830-1867. Cambridge, Polity.
- 14. Hartmuth, M. (2010). Insufficiently oriental? An early episode in the study and preservation of the Ottoman architectural heritage in the Balkans. In Hartmuth, M. & Dilsiz, A. (Ed.), *Monuments, patrons, contexts: papers on Ottoman Europe presented to Machiel Kiel* (pp. 171-184).
- 15. Hartmuth, M. (2011). Between Vienna and Istanbul: Imperial legacies, visual identities, and 'popular' and 'high' layers of architectural discourse in/on Sarajevo, c. 1900 and 2000. In Sindbaek, T. & Hartmuth, M. (Ed.), *Images of imperial legacy: Modern discourses on the social and cultural impact of Ottoman and Habsburg rule in Southeast Europe* (pp. 79-104).
- 16. Hartmuth, M. (2015). K.(u.) k. colonial? Contextualizing Architecture and Urbanism in Bosnia-Herzegovina, 1878-1918. In Clemens, R. et al. (Ed.), *Austria-Hungary, Bosnia-Herzegovina and the Western* (pp. 155-184).
- 17. Hartmuth, M. (2018). Amtssprache Maurisch? Zum Problem der Interpretation des orientalisierenden Baustils im habsburgischen Bosnien-Herzegowina. In Ruthner, C. & Scheer, T. (Ed.), *Bosnien-Herzegowina und Österreich-Ungarn, 1878–1918: Annäherungen an eine Kolonie* (251-268).
- Kamberović, H. (2020, December 12). Sarajevo je na putu da postane bošnjački i muslimanski grad. ALJAZEERA BALKANS. <u>https://balkans.aljazeera.net/teme/2020/12/12/sarajevo-je-na-putu-da-postane-bosnjacki-i-muslimanskigrad</u>
- 19. Kruševac, T. (1960). Sarajevo pod austrougarskom upravom (1878-1918). Sarajevo.
- 20. Krzović, I. (1987). Arhitektura Bosne i Hercegovine 1878-1918 exhibition catalogue. Umjetnička galerija BiH.
- 21. Krzović, I. (2004). Arhitektura secesije u Bosni i Hercegovini. Sarajevo Publishing Biblioteka kulturno naslijeđe.
- 22. Lowenthal, D. (1998). Fabricating Heritage. History and Memory, 10(1), 5-24. Indiana University Press.
- Markowitz, F. (2012). Tales of Two Buildings: National Entanglements in Sarajevo's Pasts, Presents and Futures. *Ethnologie française*, 42, 797-809. <u>https://doi.org/10.3917/ethn.124.0797</u>.
- Ruthner, C. (2006). Kakaniens kleiner Orient: Post/koloniale Lesarten der Peripherie Bosnien-Herzegowina (1878-1918). In Endre Hárs et al. (Ed.), Zentren, Peripherien und kollektive Identitäten in Osterreich-Ungarn (pp. 255 – 283).
- 25. Ruthner, C. (2015). Besetzungen: A Post/Colonial Reading of Austrian and German Cultural Narratives on Bosnia-Hercegovina, 1878-1918. In Clemens Ruthner et al. (Ed.), *WechselWirkungen* (pp. 221 – 242).
- Ruthner, C. (2018). Habsburg's Only Colony? Bosnia-Herzegovina and Austriahungary, 1878-1918, SEEU Review, 13(1), 2-14, DOI: 10.2478/seeur-2018-0002
- Ruthner, C. (2021). Sleeping Beauty's Awakening: Habsburg Colonialism in Bosnia and Herzegovina, 1878-1918. In Franti ek ístek (Ed.), *Imagining Bosnian Muslims in Central Europe: Representations, Transfers and Exchanges* (pp.76 – 91).
- 28. Ruthner, C., Scheer, T. (2019). Bosnien-Herzegowina und Österreich-Ungarn, 1878-1918: Annäherungen an eine Kolonie., 1. Tübingen, Francke.
- 29. Said, E.W. (1999). Orijentalizam- zapadnjačke predodžbe o Orijentu. Sarajevo, Svjetlost Sarajevo
- 30. Samardzić, I. (1909, August 30). Tatini sinovi, Bosanka Vila.
- 31. Sarajlija, S.S. (1886, April 16). Jadac, Bosanka Vila.

- 32. SENSE, Centar za tranzicijsku pravdu. (2016). Zatiranje istorije i sjećanja. Sarajevo Vijecnica. Zatiranje istorije i sjećanja, MKSJ i istraga, rekonstrukcija i procesuiranje zlocina protiv kulturnog naslijedja. <u>http://heritage.sense-agency.com/bhs/</u>.
- 33. Todorova, M. (2009). Imagining the Balkans. Oxford University Press.
- 34. Vervaet, S. (2009). Cultural Politics, Nation Building and Literary Imagery: Towards a Post-Colonial Reading of the Literature(s) of Bosnia and Herzegovina 1878-1918, *Kakanien revised* 28(12), 1-15
- 35. Vervaet, S. (2010). Između hrvatstva, srpstva i panislamizma: književna periodika i izgradnja nacionalnog identiteta bosanskih muslimana uoči Prvog svetskog rata, <u>Sveske Zadužbine Ive Andrića</u>, *27*, 52-57.
- Vervaet, S. (2013). <u>Centar i periferija u Austrougarskoj. Dinamika izgradnje nacionalnih identiteta u Bosni i Hercegovini od 1878. do 1918. godine na primjeru književnih tekstova.</u> Synopsis.
- 37. Walasek, H. (2016). Bosnia and the Destruction of Cultural Heritage. Routledge, Abingdon.
- 38. Zukić, K. (2017). The War Against Book. BOSNIACA, 8(8), 48-50.

Urban form and health status in Gauteng, South Africa

Rhena Delport^{a,} David Everatt^b, Thesla Palanec^c, Johannes Hugo^d, Tobias G. Barnard^e.

^a Associate Professor, University of Pretoria, Pretoria, South Africa ^b Professor of Urban Governance, University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, South Africa ^c Associate Professor, University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg, South Africa ^c Professor, University of Pretoria, Tshwane, South Africa ^e Professor, University of Johannesburg, South Africa

Abstract

Spatial susceptibility to virus transmission is reported in communities residing in high-rise residential buildings and slums or informal settlements. This study investigates differential Covid-19 infection according to urban form – high-density apartments (HDA), formal township housing (FTH), formal dwellings' backyards (FDB), and informal settlement dwellings (ISD) to inform precautionary strategies.

The study was conducted as a randomized biological (750 serology tests per dwelling type) cross-sectional survey, with household surveys to be reported elsewhere. Data was collected between 23 March and 10 October 2021 across sites during overlapping periods. Previous SARS-CoV2 infection was detected with antibody testing. Logistic regression analyses were performed to assess the association between seropositivity and demographic variables in the study population during two periods (Period 1: up until 31 May – just before the Delta-variant manifested – and Period 2: after 31 May 2021).

Seropositivity prevalence was highest in HDA (88%), and lowest in ISD (35%), with similar frequencies in formal township dwelling types (FDH 45%, FDB 47%). Seroprevalence was 77% in period 2 in 669 HDA participants and 395 participants in formal township dwellings (FTD), compared with 39% during period 1 in ISD and FTD. The crude odds for seropositivity increase 2.34-fold (95% Confidence Interval (CI): 2.15-2.55) per shift from ISD to FTD, and then to HDA. The inclusion of age group ($</\geq$ 34 years; 60th age percentile) and vaccination status showed that all three variables were independently related to serostatus. The odds for seropositivity increased 8.4-fold (95% CI: 3.6-19.5) when being vaccinated and 1.6-fold (95% CI: 1.3-1.8) when younger than 34 years of age. Sex did not infer risk for Covid-19 infection.

Contrary to the previous observations, ISD are least susceptible to SARS-CoV2 infection, and younger age contributes significantly to seropositivity. Additional urban form-associated factors need to be considered to better understand the relationship with health.

Keywords

Urban form, SARS CoV2, susceptibility.

- 1. Gostin, L. (2020). The Great Coronavirus Pandemic of 2020—7 Critical Lessons. *JAMA*. https://jamanetwork.com/channels/health-forum/fullarticle/2769600
- 2. Lu, Y., Zhai, G., Zhou, S., Shi, Y. (2020). Risk reduction through urban spatial resilience: a theoretical framework. *Hum Ecol Risk Assess*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10807039.2020.1788918</u>
- Mkhize, Z. (2020). Minister Zweli Mkhize reports first case of coronavirus Covid-19 | South African government, South African government media statement, 2020. <u>https://www.gov.za/speeches/health-reports-first-case-covid-19-coronavirus-5-mar-2020-0000</u>
- 4. LATEST CONFIRMED CASES OF COVID-19 IN SOUTH AFRICA (10 MARCH 2022. https://www.nicd.ac.za/latest-confirmed-cases-of-covid-19-in-south-africa-10-march-2022/
- Shaw, J.A., Meiring, M., Cummins, T., et al. (2022). HigherSARS-CoV-2 seroprevalence in workers with lower socioeconomic status in Cape Town, South Africa. *PLoS ONE 16*(2):e0247852. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0247852

- 6. Shi, C., Liao, L., Li, H., et al. (2022). Which urban communities are susceptible to COVID-19? An empirical study through the lens of community resilience. *BMC Public Health* 22(70). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-021-12419-8</u>
- Turok, I., Borel-Saladin, J. Backyard shacks, informality and the urban housing crisis in South Africa: stopgap or prototype solution? *Housing Studies*, 31(4), 384-409. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02673037.2015.1091921</u>
- 8. WHO. Consensus document on the epidemiology of severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS). Geneva: World Health Organization (2003). <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/70863/</u>

Exploring Digital and Financial Divide and Its Effects on South African Women's Engagement in Entrepreneurship.

Tinuade Adekunbi Ojo PhD.

4IR and Digital Policy Research Unit (4DPRU), University of Johannesburg.

Abstract

The transition into a digitalised economy came with its significant challenges on the financial and digital divide in South Africa. Despite the government efforts, gendered constraints to the disadvantage of women pose a colossal hindrance to the transformation of a digital and financially inclusive society. Since entrepreneurial activities in the urban-rural context play a significant role in environmental justice, job equity, and sustainable livelihood, There is a need to document the impact of access to finance and digitalisation to enhance women's engagement in entrepreneurship. The study builds on the unified theory of acceptance and technology theory using a qualitative research approach to explore how digitalisation and financial inclusion enhance women's entrepreneurial engagements and address gender constraints and urban inequalities. The paper presents primary data from current research on women entrepreneurs in the City of Tshwane. To highlight issues of the rural-urban gender divide and factors constraining the potential benefits of digitalisation and financial inclusion, we articulated the importance of the urban context in broader present-day inequality debates.

The findings revealed that digital and financial access enhances women's engagement in entrepreneurship by addressing socio-spatial challenges such as gendered social and physical mobility. Therefore, the government should invest in digital technology in marginalised urban regions and implement appropriate gendered policy recommendations.

Keywords

Digitalization, Financial Inclusion, Entrepreneurship, Gender Divide, South Africa.

- 1. Acilar, A., & Sæbø, Ø. (2021). Towards understanding the gender digital divide: a systematic literature review. *Global Knowledge, Memory and Communication*.pp 1-17
- 2. Atkinson D., 2014. Rural-Urban Linkages: South Africa Case Study. Working Paper Series N° 125. Working Group: Development with Territorial Cohesion. Territorial Cohesion for Development Program. Rimisp, Santiago, Chile
- 3. Chisiza, M. 2017. No Woman Left Behind: The Gender Digital Divide. Available at <u>https://saiia.org.za/research/no-woman-left-behind-the-gender-digital-divide/</u> (Accessed June 30, 2021).
- 4. City of Tshwane Municipality, (2016a). City of Tshwane, in *City of Tshwane Draft 2016/17 IDP Review March 2016*. City of Tshwane Municipality, Pretoria, Gauteng South Africa, Government Printer.
- 5. Kemp, S. 2021. Digital 2021: Global Overview Report. DataPortal Hootsuite. <u>https://datareportal.com/reports/digital-2021-global-overview-report</u>
- 6. Lardies, C.A., Dryding, D. & Logan, C.2020. *African Women have less access to the Internet than African Men do that's a problem*. AfroBarometer. Available at <u>https://afrobarometer.org/blogs/african-women-have-less-access-internet-african-men-do-thats-problem</u> (Accessed August 1, 2021).
- 7. Magenya, S. (2020). Making a Feminist Internet in Africa: Why the Internet needs African feminists and feminisms. GenderIT.org. Available at https://www.genderit.org/editorial/ making- feminist-internet-africa-why-internet-needsafrican-feminists-and-feminisms
- Massey, A. (2021). The digital divide: Overcoming barriers to digital learning in post-Covid-19 South Africa. Higher Education Biz Community. Accessed 2nd March 2022. <u>https://www.bizcommunity.com/Article/196/499/217529.html</u>
- 9. Mastercard Index. 2021. Women entrepreneurs are making progress in South Africa, but challenges persist Mastercard Index. <u>https://newsroom.mastercard.com/mea/press-releases/women-entrepreneurs-are-making-progress-in-south-africa-but-challenges-persist-mastercard-index/</u> Accessed 31 March 2022.
- 10. Mlambo-Ngcuka, P. & Albrectsen, A. (2020). We cannot allow COVID-19 to reinforce the digital gender divide. U.N. Women. Available at https://www.unwomen.org/en/news/stories/2020/5/ op-ed-ed-phumzile-covid-19-and-the-digital-

gender-divide

- Mulyaningsih, T., Wahyunengseh, R., Hastjarjo, S., 2021. Poverty and Digital Divide: A Study in Urban Poor Neighborhoods. Journal Ilmu Sosial dan Ilmu Politik 24, 189.. doi:10.22146/jsp.52325
- Ojo, T.A. & Segone, K. 2022. Women are Being Squeezed out of the Digital Economy. Daily Maveirick. Accessed 15th March 2022. <u>https://www.dailymaverick.co.za/opinionista/2022-</u>03-07-women-are-being-squeezed-out-of-the-digitaleconomy/
- Ojo, TA (2020). A Study of Financial Inclusion for South African Women: A case study of women Entrepreneurs in Gauteng. Doctoral Thesis, University of Pretoria. <u>http://hdl.handle.net/2263/78103</u>
- 14. Omnisa, 2020, Is South Africa Ready for the Fourth Industrial Revolution. Accessed 5th August 2021, <u>https://www.omniaccounts.co.za/articles/is-sa-ready-for-4th-industrial-revolution</u>.
- 15. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), (2018). *Bridging the Gender Digital Divide: Include, Upskill, Innovate.* OECD. Accessed 9th December, 2021. <u>https://www.oecd.org/digital/bridging-the-digital-gender-divide.pdf</u>
- 16. Power, T. (2020). *The gender digital divide and COVID-19: Towards feminist internet regulations in Southern Africa*. Accessed 21st September 2021. <u>https://africaninternetrights.org/sites/default/files/Tina_Power.pdf</u>
- Ramaphosa, C. 2020. A National Strategy for Harnessing the Fourth Industrial Revolution: The Case of South Africa. Africa in Focus. Accessed 6th March 2021. <u>https://www.brookings.edu/blog/africa-in-focus/2020/01/10/a-national-strategy-for-harnessing-the-fourth-industrial-revolution-the-case-of-south-africa/.</u>
- Shava, E. (2021). Gender Equality in Information Communication Technology (ICT) for Attaining Sustainable Development Goal Number 5 in South Africa. *Gender and Behaviour*, 19(2), 17906-17917.
- Shivdasani, A., 2019. South Africa's Foray into the Fourth Industrial Revolution: Let's Learn to Walk before We Try to Fly. Accessed 5th August 2021. <u>https://www.dailymaverick.co.za/opinionista/2019-07-24-south-africas-foray-into-thefourth-industrial-revolution-lets-learn-to-walk-before-we-try-to-fly/</u>
- 20. Smit, K. 2021. *The 'She-Cession': Women Entrepreneurs are Key to South Africa's Socio-Economic Recovery*. City Press, 13th August 2021. <u>https://www.news24.com/citypress/voices/the-she-cession-women-entrepreneurs-are-key-to-south-africas-socioeconomic-recovery-20210812</u> Accessed 31 March 2022.
- 21. Smith, C. 2020. Women-Owned Businesses present Lower Risk Factor Data Shows. Fin24, Accessed 13th March 2020. <u>https://www.news24.com/fin24/Economy/women-owned-</u> Accessed 31 March 2022. <u>businesses-present-lower-risk-factor-data-shows-20200922</u>
- 22. Statista 2021. *Digital Population in South Africa in January 2021*. Accessed 5th 2021. https://www.statista.com/statistics/685134/south-africa-digital-population/.
- 23. Statistica 2022. South Africa: Urbanisation from 2010 2020. <u>https://www.statista.com/statistics/455931/urbanization-in-</u>south-africa/ Accessed 30th March 2022.
- 24. StatsSA 2018. *Quarterly Labour Force Survey Statistical P0211*. StatsSA. Accessed 5th March 2022. http://www.statssa.gov.za/publications/P0211/P02112ndQuarter2018.pdf

Interpreting the effect of changing Architectural Taxonomies in Diu Town

Dr Anisha Meggi

De Montfort University, Leicester, United Kingdom

Abstract

Former colonial urban environments host a range of contextual layers with complex meanings yet experience challenges of urban, socio-cultural, and political developments. This paper focuses on the case study of Diu Town, a former Portuguese colonial island, located off the north-western coast of the Gujarat state, India. As a rapidly urbanizing island with processes of tourism and new infrastructure as part of the smart city campaign. This paper aims to use field trip data in the form of building surveys and qualitative urban mapping which will classify the original colonial taxonomies of towns districts to formulate an understanding of how class and social status, religious beliefs and social life was divided through its architecture and urban form. Further to this, the research will trace the contextual development of the island town post-independence to explore how post-colonial migration and current urban and social processes are erasing former socio-cultural divides within the urban environment through homogenization of colonial heteroglossia architecture. The purpose of this paper ultimately is an exploration of the multifaceted nature of the former colonial town where divides in the urban and socio- cultural front are removed through socio-political migration and urbanization though at the same time erasing the unique globally shared heritage of the town. In doing so highlighting and critiquing the dual nature of urban processes which remove cultural urban heritage of divides to create democratically and vet homogenized and nationalized urban spaces and experiences. The research in this paper contributes and extends on the studies conducted in, "Understanding the Difficult Whole: Structures of Diu Town" (Anisha Meggi & Hadi, 2021), where façade analysis of heritage structures as per Venturi's complexity and contradiction theories explores the multiplicity of heritage structures and in, "The Atmospheric Skin of Diu Town examining façades", (A Meggi & Hadi, 2020), examines socio-cultural symbolism on façades.

Keywords

Architectural taxonomies; Diu Town; Urban divides; architectural heritage

- 1. Alexander, C. (2017). *A City is Not a Tree: 50th Anniversary Edition*. Retrieved from https://books.google.co.uk/books?id=k9ovDwAAQBAJ
- 2. Bross, B. A., Alicea, B., Hamed, M. Ben, & Bross, B. (2019). *The Taxonomy of Spatial Typologies A proposal for an Analytical Language Related papers The Taxonomy of Spatial Typologies : A proposal for an Analytical Language*.
- 3. Crooker, E., & Araoz, G. (2011). Toward a Comprehensive Taxanomy of Earthen Architecture. In L. Rainer, A.
- 4. B. Rivera, & D. Gandreau (Eds.), *Terra 2008: The 10th International Conference on the Study and Conservation of Earthen Architectural Heritage*. Retrieved from https://books.google.co.uk/books?id=gUZkh_C1_jYC
- 5. Fleischmann, M. (2021). *The Urban Atlas : Methodological Foundation of a Morphometric Taxonomy of Urban Form.* (April).
- 6. Hamza, B. (2011). The concept of typology and the Hausa traditional house classification: Taxonomy of architectural types, prototypes and typologies. *Techno Science Africana Journal*, 6(1), 1–12.
- 7. Ismail, N. (2018). Smart cities in India: Embracing the opportunity of urbanisation. Retrieved August 12, 2020, from Information Age website: https://www.information-age.com/smart-cities-in-india-123474005/
- 8. Jun, J., & Xiaoming, K. (2008). The taxonomy of contemporary Chinese cities (We make cities): A sampling.
- 9. Architectural Design, 78(5), 16–21. https://doi.org/10.1002/ad.730
- 10. Meggi, A, & Hadi, H. (2020). The Atmospheric Skin of Diu Town Examining Facades. In M. M. Borlini, L. di Loreto, & C. Amadori (Eds.), *Urban Corporis The City and the Skin* (1st ed., pp. 150–158). Firenze:
- 11. I.U.V.A.S. FIRENZE ITALY.
- 12. Meggi, A, & Hadi, Y. (2019). Invisible Borders, Physical Fragmentation; Diu Town. *Urbanism at Borders Conference CFP Malaga, Spain*. Malga: La Escuela de Arquitectura en Málaga.
- 13. Meggi, Anisha, & Hadi, Y. (2021). Understanding the difficult whole: The structures of Diu Town. In F. Bianconi & M.

Filippucci (Eds.), Draw Digital Connections. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-59743-6

- 14. Minett, J. (1975). If the city is not a tree, nor is it a system. *Planning Outlook*, *16*(1–2), 4–18. https://doi.org/10.1080/00320717508711494
- 15. Patel, S. (2015). The research paradigm methodology, epistemology and ontology explained in simple language. Retrieved August 18, 2020, from Dr Salma Patel website: http://salmapatel.co.uk/academia/the- research-paradigm-methodology-epistemology-and-ontology-explained-in-simple-language/
- 16. Shokoohy, M., & Shokoohy, N. H. (2010). The Island of Diu, its Architecture and Historic Remains. *South Asian Studies*, *26*(2), 161–191. https://doi.org/10.1080/02666030.2010.514743
- 17. Trum, H. M. G. J., & Bax, M. F. T. (1996). The taxonomy of concepts in architecture: some applications and
- 18. developments. *Open House International*, 21(1), 4–14. Retrieved from https://research.tue.nl/en/publications/the-taxonomy-of-concepts-in-architecture-some-applications-and- developments
- 19. Yin, R. K. (2013). Case study research: Design and methods. Sage publications.

Socio-spatial segregation as a consequence of Commercial Gentrification in Cumbaya, Quito – Ecuador

Mauricio Javier Unda Padilla¹, María Daniela Zumárraga Salgado², Angel Celio Torres Riascos, ³ Nathan Joel Morillo Aguilar ¹, Kelly Del Cisne Proaño Ruiz ¹

> ¹Universidad Internacional del Ecuador ²Universidad Tecnológica Indoamérica ³Secretaría Técnica Plan Todo una Vida

Abstract

The process of urban expansion of the City of Quito has caused the formation of new peripheral centralities, the same ones that offer all the services that the traditional center grants thanks to public and private investment. In this sense, citizens from wealthy social strata are attracted to reside in these new sectors where consumption, exclusivity and privatization of space become the new way of life that conditions the social dynamics of the territory. This article seeks to identify the types of urban segregation that have occurred from the phenomenon of commercial gentrification evidenced on the edges of the Central Park of Cumbayá between the years 2000 and 2022. For this, a mixed research methodology is used where interviews, photographic archives and surveys allow generating a socio-spatial analysis that evidences this phenomenon. As a result, it was found that commercial gentrification has displaced the old residents of the sector creating stigmatization, expulsion and walling typical of urban segregation. Finally, the resistance that few traditional inhabitants of the sector present in abandoning their place of origin is evidenced.

Keywords

Socio-spatial segregation, commercial gentrification, social resistance, new centralities, Cumbaya

- Altamirano, A.(2021). Segregación socioespacial en Cumbayá, Distrito Metropolitano de Quito.Revista PUCE, núm. 112,43-64.
- 2. Hernández, A.(2014), Gentrificación comercial y mercados públicos:El mercado de Santa Caterina, Barcelona, Barcelona, Contested Cities.
- Janoshcka, M. & Hidalgo, R.,(2014), Gentrificación empresarial en el centro de Santiago:contradicciones en la producción del espacio residencial, En La ciudad Neoliberal Gentrificación y exclusión en Santiago de Chile, Buenos Aires, Ciudad de México y Madrid., Santiago de Chile, Pontificia Universidad Católica de Chile.
- 4. López-Morales, E.,(2015), Gentrification in the South, Revista City, Routledge Taylor and Francis Group
- 5. Sabatini, F., Rasse, A., Cáceres, G., Robles, M., Trebilcock, M.(2017). Promotores Inmobiliarios, gentrificación y segregación residencial en Santiago de Chile. Revista Mexicana de Sociología 79, núm. 2, 229-260.

An ethnographic account on the desire for greenery in the affluent northern suburbs of Johannesburg, South Africa

Oda Eiken Maraire

PhD Candidate, Department of Social Anthropology, University of Bergen, Norway

Abstract

The affluent northern suburbs of Johannesburg are often referred to as the 'leafy suburbs', and throughout eleven months of ethnographic fieldwork, following various actors within the residential real estate industry, a strong desire for and cultivation of urban greenery was apparent. Although both residents and real estate agents often emphasised that safety and security were the most important factors for where and how people want to live in Johannesburg, which also characterises much of the literature in the field (i.e. Murray, 2011), I argue in this paper that a desire and a longing for greenery is essential for understanding processes of enclaving in the affluent northern suburbs of Johannesburg. Considering the city's location in the Highveld, an area characterised by a broad grassy plateau where soils tend to be dry and powdery during winter, cultivating greenery is particularly labour-intensive. By exploring Walter Benjamin's concept of anaesthesia as a sensory abundance, I denaturalise what I perceive is an undisputed desire for nature in the suburbs are technical manipulations that, consciously or unconsciously, reproduce racialised and classed perceptions of who and what belongs in the suburbs. Simultaneously, these everyday practices of greening are arguably an expression of care that show people's commitment to the city and urban lifestyles that has potential to remake and reimagine the suburban landscapes anew.

Keywords

Greenery; Anaesthesia; Real Estate; Barriers; Enclaving; Ethnography.

- Ballard, R, & Gareth, A. J. (2011). Natural Neighbours: Indigenous Landscapes and Eco-Estates in Durban, South Africa. Annals of the Association of American Geographers, 101(1), 131-48. https://doi.org/10.1080/00045608.2010.520224
- 2. Banda, M. (2021, 30 September). The Cabbage Bandit is quietly rotating his crops and hopes that this time the cops stay away. *The Daily Maverick*. https://www.dailymaverick.co.za/article/2021-09-30-the-cabbage-bandit-is-quietly-rotating-his-crops-and-hopes-that-this-time-the-cops-stay-away/
- 3. Bernard, H. R. (2000). *Research methods in anthropology: Qualitative and quantitative approaches*. Rowman & Littlefield.
- 4. Buck-Morss, S. (1992). Aesthetics and Anaesthetics: Walter Benjamin's Artwork Essay Reconsidered. *The MIT Press*, October, Vol.62, 3-41. https://doi.org/10.2307/778700
- 5. Cane, J. (2019). Civilising Grass: The art of the lawn on the South African Highveld. Wits University Press
- Comaroff, J., & Comaroff. J. (2001). Naturing the nation: aliens, apocalypse and the postcolonial state. *Journal of Southern African Studies*, 27(3), 627-651. https://doi.org/10.1080/13632430120074626
- 7. Comaroff, J. (2017). Invasive aliens: The late-modern politics of species being. *Social Research: An International Quarterly*, 84(1), 29-52. https://www.muse.jhu.edu/article/659221
- 8. Falkof, N. (2020). Ugly Noo-noos and suburban nightmares. In N. Falkof & C. Van Staden (Eds.), *Anxious Joburg: The inner lives of a global South city*. (pp. 115–131). Wits University Press. https://doi.org/10.18772/22020106284.14
- 9. Hardman, M., & Larkham, P. J. (2014). *Informal Urban agriculture: The Secret Lives of Guerrilla Gardeners*. Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-09534-9
- Ho, K. (2016). "Studying up" Wall Street: Reflections on theory and methodology. In Luis L. M. Aguiar & C. J. Schneider (Eds.), *Researching Amongst Elites: Challenges in studying up.* (pp.29-48). London and New York: Routledge.
- 11. Murray, M. J. (2011). City of extremes. The spatial politics of Johannesburg. Durham: Duke University Press.
- 12. Nielsen, M., Sumich, J., & Bertelsen, B. E. (2020). Enclaving: Spatial detachment as an aesthetics of imagination in an

urban sub-Saharan African context. Urban Studies, 58(5), 881-902. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042098020916095

- 13. Nuttall, S. & Mbembe, A. (2008). Johannesburg: The Elusive Metropolis, Durham & London: Duke University Press.
- Raidoo, R. (2020). The Unruly in the anodyne: Nature in Gated Communities. In N. Falkof & C. Van Staden (Eds.), *Anxious Joburg: The inner lives of a global South city.* (pp. 132-151). Wits University Press. https://doi.org/10.18772/22020106284.14
- 15. Kammies, K. (Host) (2018, 12 January). Fake lawn: How to keep your garden green in the midst of Cape Town's drought. [Audio podcast episode]. In *Cape Talks*. <u>https://www.capetalk.co.za/articles/287843/fake-lawn-how-to-keep-your-garden-green-in-the-midst-of-cape-town-s-drought</u>
- 16. Tidball, K. G., & Krasny, M. E. (Eds.). (2013). *Greening in the red zone: disaster, resilience, and community greening.* Springer Science & Business Media.

The Informal Land Market in The Belo Horizonte Metropolitan Area: Evidence From The Inspection of Irregular Subdivisions (2009-2018)

DANIEL MEDEIROS DE FREITAS¹, JOÃO TONUCCI², SOPHIA GUARNIERI³

¹PhD. Federal University of Minas Gerais (UFMG). Belo Horizonte, Brazil. ²PhD. Federal University of Minas Gerais (UFMG). Belo Horizonte, Brazil. ³Researcher. Federal University of Minas Gerais (UFMG). Belo Horizonte, Brazil.

Abstract

Peripheral capitalist cities are characterized by extreme socio-spatial inequality, precarious housing conditions, and the prevalence of informal arrangements for access to land and housing. In Latin America, one of the main access routes for the lower classes into the city, in addition to squatting on unused land and property, is the informal market for urban land. In Belo Horizonte, this market expanded considerably from the 1950s onwards, and its most striking socio-spatial impact was the rapid expansion of precarious and self-built peripheral areas. In the last decade, the strong Brazilian real estate boom led to an expansion of the formal real estate market and its extension to populations previously excluded from it. The article presents the results of a study that examines the informal market for land subdivisions based on official data and interviews with informal land developers. The text begins with a bibliographic review of the informal urban land market in Latin America and a review from main aspects of regulation and control of land development in the region. The final section presents the preliminary results of an ongoing investigation that emphasizes the importance of further examining this pervasive and complex form of urbanization considering its relations with the increasing penetration of financialized and rent-seeking logics of urban production, as well as the challenges and contradictions related to the action of the state and social movements. The discussion seems to gain relevance in the face of the worsening of the country's socio-politicaleconomic crisis, especially if we take into account the reaffirmation of oligarchic and rentier interests involved in the ultraliberal turn, the escalation of land conflicts, and the deterioration of the social and economic situation that questions the right to housing and the right to the city.

Keywords

Informal Land Market, Peripheral Urbanization, Belo Horizonte Metropolitan Area, Land Financialization, Inspection of Irregular Subdivisions

- 1. ABRAMO, P. (2007). A cidade com-fusa: a mão inoxidável do mercado e a produção da estrutura urbana nas grandes metrópoles latino-americanas. Revista Brasileira de Estudos Urbanos e Regionais, v. 9, n. 2.
- 2. CALDEIRA, T. (2017). Peripheral urbanization: Autoconstruction, transversal logics, and politics in cities of the global south. Environment and Planning D: Society and Space, v. 35, n. 1, p. 3-20.
- COCKBURN, J. A. C. (1999). Algunas consideraciones sobre los mercados ilegales e informales de suelo urbano en América Latina. Reporte de investigación LP99Z16, Lincoln Institute of Land Policy.
- COSTA, H. S. M. (1994). Habitação e produção do espaço em Belo Horizonte. In.: MONTE-MÓR, Roberto Luís de Melo (Coord.). Belo Horizonte: Espaços e tempos em construção. Belo Horizonte: PBH/CEDEPLAR. p. 51-77. (Coleção BH 100 anos).
- 5. JARAMILLO, S. (2008). Hacia una teoría de la renta del suelo urbano. Ediciones Uniandes-Universidad de los Andes.
- MAGALHÃES, F., TONUCCI, J., Silva, H. (2011). Valorização imobiliária e produção do espaço: novas frentes na RMBH. In.: MENDONÇA, J. G.; COSTA, H. S. M. (Org.). Estado e capital imobiliário: convergências atuais na produção do espaço urbano brasileiro. Belo Horizonte: C/Arte. p.17-40.
- 7. PLAMBEL. (1987). Planejamento da Região Metropolitana de Belo Horizonte. O mercado da terra na Região Metropolitana de Belo Horizonte. 2. ed. Belo Horizonte.
- RIBEIRO, L. C. Q. (2017). A metrópole em questão: desafios da transição urbana 2ª edição Revista e Ampliada. Letra Capital Editora.
- 9. ROLNIK, R. (2015). Guerra dos lugares: a colonização da terra e da moradia na era das finanças. 1.ed. São Paulo: Boitempo.

Divided cities: the language game as a violent strategy

Bruno Fernandes¹, Denise Morado Nascimento²

¹Doctoral student at Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais, PRAXIS-EA/UFMG researcher and Professor at Law School, PUC Minas, Brazil

² Professor at School of Architecture, Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais (UFMG), Brazil; Coordinator of PRAXIS-EA/UFMG

Abstract

In the past four decades, the Brazilian regulatory system and public policies that seek equal and sustainable cities have substantially expanded. However, their effectiveness and realities expose contradictory results compared to their idealized objectives, considering the growth of environmental and urban inequalities that sustains a continuous spatial injustice system. The paper demonstrates that divided realities of urban spaces are derived from the encrypted language games that neutralize difference and normalize violence and the resulting spatial injustice. Therefore, this article starts from the understanding of violence as guideline in the production of space through the combination of the Theory of power encryption (Ricardo Sanín-Restrepo) and the Theory of practice (Pierre Bourdieu). Sanín-Restrepo says that we only have one world if each human being is able to communicate her or his difference through her or his immanent difference. Bourdieu affirms that practice - structures present in the society and strategies triggered by agents - constitutes all the human actions carried out in social life. The analytical path goes through the mining territories in the Metropolitan Region of Belo Horizonte, specially focused in the environmental damage related to the city of Brumadinho and its legal agreement to reparation of the affected local population. The paper will demonstrate how public interests are manipulated by the language game which violently simulates social rights and environmental justice and subtracts the people's right to exist by denying political exercise in the face of institutional and capitalist forms of politics. In the end, a theoretical-methodological path to decrypt urban space is presented which consists of revealing and recognizing the narratives of hidden people to confront them as a political instrument to the violent process of space production.

Keywords

power encryption; language game; violence

- 1. Agência Nacional de Mineração, A. (2022). *III Relatório Anual de Segurança de Barragens de Mineração*. https://www.gov.br/anm/pt-br/assuntos/barragens/relatorios-anuais-de-seguranca-da-barragens-demineracao-2/relatrioanual2021v31.pdf
- 2. Arbex, D. (2022). Arrastados: os bastidores do rompimento da barragem de Brumadinho, o maior desastre humanitário do Brasil. Intrínseca.
- 3. Bourdieu, P. (2011). O poder simbólico (15th ed.). Bertrand Brasil.
- 4. Bourdieu, P. (2013). O senso prático (3rd ed.). Vozes.
- Fernandes, B. (2020). Direito administrativo da crise e a ressignificação das concessões de serviços públicos. In *DIREITO NAS CRISES: problemas jurídicos suscitados pela pandemia de COVID-19* (pp. 131–150). CRV.
- Minas Gerais. (2021, February 4). Tribunal de Justiça do Estado de Minas Gerais. Acordo Judicial para a reparação integral relativa ao rompimento das barragens B-I, B-IV e B-IV-A / Córrego do Feijão Processo de Mediação SEI n 012201-59.2020.8.13.0000. Diário de Justiça Eletrônico. https://www.mg.gov.br/sites/default/files/geral/ata_acordo_vale_04-02-2021_1.pdf
- 7. Morado Nascimento, D. (2020). O sistema de exclusão na cidade neoliberal brasileira. Lutas Anticapital.
- 8. Sanín-Restrepo, R. (2016). *Decolonizing democracy: power in a solid state*. Rowman & Littlefield International.
- 9. Secretaria do Estado de Meio Ambiente e Desenvolvimento Sustentável, S. (2022). *Infraestrutura de dados espaciais*. https://idesisema.meioambiente.mg.gov.br/webgis

Unslumming the Slum of a Small Town: An Ethnographic Account from Bodh Gaya, India

Ritika Rajput and Aarushi Rai¹

¹Independent Researchers

Abstract

A slum is considered a 'place' which suffers from poverty, overcrowding and fundamental infrastructural deprivation. Slums have produced/ reproduced socio-economic inequalities, further deepening social divisions. In popular urban literature, a slum is deemed as the phenomenon of megacities; nevertheless, it applies to all urban centres in India. Against this backdrop, the paper aims to examine what 'slum' as a category means for small towns. We are particularly interested in understanding the formation of slums in these urban settings. Further, we explore how this categorisation influences the availability and accessibility of fundamental amenities for its residents. Here, we refer to small towns as urban centres with less than 100, 000 residents. Bodh Gaya, an internationally renowned town in Bihar in India, used as empirical cases to explore the slums in a small town. The slums in Bodh Gaya are the result of complex intersectionality of historical land politics and tenure insecurities, caste, and lack of basic amenities. It is found that there are no compelling differences between the living conditions of non-slum and slum residents as far as this small town is concerned. Consequently, we question the validity of 'slums' as a category in small towns, and argue against this unequal and fragmented categorisation which is complacent in further deteriorating the living conditions of urban poor in future.

Keywords

Slums; Small Towns; Infrastrucure; Land Tenure; Bodh Gaya

- 1. Appadurai, A. (2001). Deep democracy: Urban Governmentality and the Horizon of Politics: Environment and Urbanization. Cities of the Global South Reader, 13(2), 23-43.
- 2. Baviskar, A. (2003). Between Violence and Desire: Space, Power, and Identity in the Making of Metropolitan Delhi.
- 3. International Social Science Journal 55 (1):89-98.
- Bodh-Gaya Town Planning Authority. (1966). Draft Master Plan. Bihar, Superintendent Secretaria Press of Patna. Bodh-Gaya Town Planning Authority (1973) Master Plan for Bodh Gaya (Revised). Patna, Archaeological Survey of India. Census of India (2011).
- 5. Bodh Gaya Nagar Panchayat City Population Census 2011-2020 | Bihar. (2019). Retrieved December 10, 2019, from https://www.census2011.co.in/data/town/801406-bodh-gaya-bihar.html
- 6. Chatterjee, P. (2004). The Politics of the Governed: Reflections on Popular Politics in Most of the World. New York: Columbia University Press.
- City Development Plan. (2006) HUDCO and Government of Bihar, Urban Planning. City Development Plan Bodh Gaya. (2011). Government of Bihar, Urban Planning Davis, M. (2004). Planet of slums. New left review, 26, 5.
- 8. Geary, D. (2009). Destination enlightenment: Branding Buddhism and spiritual tourism in Bodhgaya, Bihar. The University of British Columbia. <u>https://doi.org/10.14288/1.0068498</u> Doctor of Philosophy
- 9. Ghertner. A. (2011). Rule by Aesthetics: World-Class City Making in Delhi, in Ananya Roy and Aihwa Ong (eds), Worlding Cities: Asian Experiments and the Art of Being Global, 279-306.
- 10. Hall, P., & Pfeiffer, U., (2000). Urban future 21: a global agenda for twenty-first-century cities. E & FN Spon.
- 11. Rao, V. (2012). Slum as theory: Mega-cities and urban models. The SAGE handbook of architectural theory, 671-686.
- 12. Roy A. (200,9). The 21st Century Metropolis: New Geographies of Theory. Regional Studies 43 (6), 819-830.
- 13. Roy, A. (2011). Slumdog Cities: Rethinking Subaltern Urbanism. International Journal of Urban and Regional Research, 35 (2), 223-238. Willey-Blackwell.
- 14. The Bihar Municipal Bill. Retrieved December 13, 2019, from http://urban.bih.nic.in/Acts/AR-01-29-03-2007.pdf
- 15. UN-Habitat. (2004). The challenge of slums: global report on human settlements 2003. *Management of Environmental Quality: An International Journal*, *15*(3), 337-338.

Part IV Redefinitions

Places of worship in the urban landscape: The role of participatory processes for their reuse in an European comparative perspective

Davide Dimodugno¹

¹University of Turin, Law Department

Abstract

Places of worship have always played a crucial role in defining the landscape and character of our cities and villages. Each building has its own history to tell and represents the effort of a whole community in the creation of a common identity. For this reason, as well as for their historical and artistic value, these goods are frequently protected by the legislation of the States as a part of their national cultural heritage. Nevertheless, when their religious purpose ceases, as it is happening everywhere in Europe, because of secularization, demographic decline and migrations, the problem of their re-signification arises.

Focusing on the Catholic Church's assets because of their significative presence in Western Europe, this paper aims to provide a vision on the future of these goods, underling their value as "common goods" for local communities.

In fact, the population recognises these assets as having both a use value and a cultural heritage value, which must be considered when identifying the new profane uses. These are goods that evoke a dual belonging, not only for the ecclesial community, but also for the wider civil community, that must rightly be able to express its opinions on the reuse of buildings no longer used for worship.

The comparative study of the experiences from Belgium, France and Italy shows that, in spite of their different legal systems, a new awareness is emerging with respect to this heritage, which should not be destined to neglect and abandonment, but must be properly valorised.

Through participatory processes, it appears possible to identify the needs that emerge within communities, so that political and ecclesiastical decision-makers will be able to adopt solutions that can generate a positive impact in terms of social, cultural and economic development.

In this way, it will be possible to restore to these assets the spatial and cultural centrality that they have always had in the neighbourhoods of our cities and in rural villages.

Keywords

Adaptive reuse; Places of worship; Church; Common goods; Participation; Local communities

- 1. Assini N., Cordini G. (2006). I beni culturali e paesaggistici: diritto interno, comunitario, comparato e internazionale. Cedam.
- 2. Bartolomei, L. (2021). Prime intersezioni tra 'Partecipation research' e 'Partecipatio actuosa'. Percorsi di progettazione partecipata per la realizzazione di edifici di culto. In J. Benedetti (Ed.), *Comunità e progettazione : atti della Giornata nazionale comunità e progettazione, ai Progetti pilota alla progettazione pastorale organizzata dall'Ufficio nazionale per i beni culturali ecclesiastici e l'edilizia di culto della Conferenza Episcopale italiana : Viareggio, 17-18 giugno 2019* (pp. 123-136). Gangemi.
- 3. Collin, L., & Jaspers J. (2019). Current and future use of parish churches in Flanders (Belgium). In F. Capanni (Ed.) Doesn't God dwell here anymore? Decommissioning places of worship and integrated management of ecclesiastical cultural heritage (pp. 173-180). Artemide.
- 4. Conférence des Évêques de France (2016). *État des lieux des églises en France*. <u>https://www.eglise.catholique.fr/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2016/09/fiche_arts_sacre-presse_VDEF.pdf</u>.
- Coomans T. (2006), Les églises en Belgique. Aspects architecturaux, enjeux juridiques et approche patrimoniale. In L. K. Morisset, L. Noppen & T. Coomans (Eds.) *Quel avenir pour quelles églises? What future for which churches?* (pp. 41-72). Presses de l'Université du Québec.
- 6. Coomans T., Grootswagers L. (2019). Future of Religious Heritage and the Benefits of European Cooperation. In D. Vidal-Casellas, S. Aulet & N. Crous-Costa (Eds.) *Tourism, Pilgrimage and Intercultural Dialogue* (pp. 160-173). CABI.

- 7. Council of Europe (1985). Convention for the Protection of the Architectural Heritage of Europe (ETS No. 121). https://rm.coe.int/168007a087.
- 8. Council of Europe (2005). Framework Convention on the Value of Cultural Heritage for Society. https://rm.coe.int/1680083746.
- Danckers, J., Jaspers, J., & Stevens, D. (2016). The future of parish churches in Flanders, Belgium: a dialogue on municipality level. *IN_BO. Ricerche e progetti per il territorio, la città e l'architettura*, 7(10), 146-166. <u>https://doi.org/10.6092/issn.2036-1602/6597</u>.
- Danckers, J., Jaspers, J., Stevens, D. & Collin, L. (2019). Research on Flanders' religious heritage. A basis for an endurable future for church buildings. In F. Capanni (Ed.) Doesn't God dwell here anymore? Decommissioning places of worship and integrated management of ecclesiastical cultural heritage (pp. 423-433). Artemide.
- 11. Flores-Lonjou, M. (2001). Les lieux de culte en France. Les éditions du cerf.
- 12. Foster, S. R. & Iaione, C. (2016). The City as Commons. Yale Law & Policy Review, 34(2), 281-349.
- 13. Hardin, G. J. (1968). The tragedy of commons. Science, 162(3859), 1243-1248.
- Iaione, C. & De Nictolis, E. (2022). The City as a Commons Reloaded. From the Urban Commons to Co-Cities Empirical Evidence on the Bologna Regulation. In S. R. Foster & C. F. Swiney (Eds.) *The Cambridge Handbook of Commons Research Innovations* (pp. 124-137). Cambridge.
- 15. ICOMOS (2005). Xi'an Declaration on the conservation of the setting of heritage structures, sites and areas. https://www.icomos.org/charters/xian-declaration.pdf.
- ICOMOS Australia (2013). Burra Charter for Places of Cultural Significance. <u>https://australia.icomos.org/wp-</u> content/uploads/The-Burra-Charter-2013-Adopted-31.10.2013.pdf.
- 17. Longhi, A. (2021). Competenze e partecipazione per progetti ecclesiali: la sperimentazione e i metodi del CLI/LAB. In J. Benedetti (Ed.), Comunità e progettazione : atti della Giornata nazionale comunità e progettazione, ai Progetti pilota alla progettazione pastorale organizzata dall'Uffici nazionale per i beni culturali ecclesiastici e l'edilizia di culto della Conferenza Episcopale italiana : Viareggio, 17-18 giugno 2019 (pp. 137-150). Gangemi.
- 18. Marella, M. R. (2012). (Ed.). Oltre il pubblico e il privato: per un diritto dei beni comuni. Ombre corte.
- Marella, M. R. (2017). The Commons as a Legal Concept. Law and Critique, 28, 61-86. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10978-016-9193-0</u>.
- 20. Mattei, U. & Quarta, A. (2015), Right to the City or Urban Commoning? Thoughts on the Generative Transformation of Property Law. *The Italian Law Journal*, *1*(2), 303-325.
- 21. Meynier-Philip, M. (2018). Entre valeur affective et valeur d'usage, quel avenir pour les églises paroissiales françaises ? : La région urbaine Lyon Saint-Etienne interrogée par le référentiel du "Plan églises" québécois. Thèse de doctorat de l'Université de Lyon en Architecture, aménagement de l'espace. https://tel.archives-ouvertes.fr/tel-02020281.
- 22. Ostrom, E. (1990). Governing the Commons: The Evolution of Institutions for Collective Action. Cambridge University press.
- 23. Santi, G. (1995). Conservazione, tutela e valorizzazione degli edifici di culto. In Chiara Minelli (Ed.) *L'edilizia di culto:* profili giuridici. Atti del convegno di studi. Università cattolica del Sacro Cuore, Milano, 22-23 giugno 1994 (pp. 65-72).Vita e pensiero.
- 24. Pontifical Council of Culture (2019). Decommissioning and ecclesial reuse of churches. Guidelines. In F. Capanni (Ed.) Doesn't God dwell here anymore? Decommissioning places of worship and integrated management of ecclesiastical cultural heritage (pp. 274-287). Artemide.
- 25. Tsivolas T. (2014), Law and Religious Cultural Heritage in Europe. Cambridge.
- 26. UNESCO World Heritage Centre (2010). Kiev Statement on the Protection of Religious Properties within the Framework of the World Heritage Convention. https://whc.unesco.org/en/religious-sacred-heritage/.

Learning from The Falls Belfast: urban reflections on defensive space. A typological study of the Falls as divided street and its relationship with *the Troubles* and its landscape today and the Irish Language Movement as a rebirth of the old street into an Irish Language Street Strip

Dr. Alona Martinez Perez^a, Mr Juan Moreno Ortolano^b

^a Senior Lecturer in Architecture, Leicester School of Architecture, De Montfort University, UK
 ^b Professor Architectural History, University of La Matanza(UNLaM), Buenos Aires, Argentina

Abstract

This paper examines the Falls Road (located in West Belfast) which is a largely Catholic/Irish Republican neighborhood particularly relevant during the conflict known as The Troubles, the conflict costed 3,500 lives. The paper starts from looking at two parallel events that happened alongside the street. Firstly, it analyses the event that emerged during the conflict, and secondly the construction of the architecture that emerged from this conflict. Using an immersive approach, the authors will enter the street from the bottom The Lower Falls to the top The Milltown Cemetery. By entering the landscape and walking and taking photographs and analyzing this we will be able to determine what is the typology of both that fragmentation and defensive space left from the conflict and discussing the effects on the residents that live on those areas and the mental health problems associated with this kind of urban landscape. The typology of the defensive space will then be counterbalanced by the positive additions in architecture of key Irish Language projects that have been built since 1998 the date when the Good Friday Agreement was established.

Keywords

divided cities, conflict cities, Irish cities, Belfast regeneration. Culturlann, Irish Language,

- 1. Belfast, Siobhán Fenton in. 2021. 'Mental Health Problems the Hidden Legacy of the Troubles'. *The Irish Times*. Accessed October 15. https://www.irishtimes.com/news/health/mental-health-problems-the-hidden-legacy-of-the-troubles-1.4005470.
- Coyles, David, Brandon Hamber, and Adrian Grant. 2021. 'Hidden Barriers and Divisive Architecture: The Role of "Everyday Space" in Conflict and Peacebuilding in Belfast'. *Journal of Urban Affairs*, June, 1–24. doi:10.1080/07352166.2021.1930017.
- 3. Davis, Mike. 2000. Ecology of Fear: Los Angeles and the Imagination of Disaster. London: Picador.
- 4. 'Essays | Troubles Archive'. 2021. Accessed September 30. http://www.troublesarchive.com/essays.
- 5. 'FrankieQuinn-CordonSanitaireIntro'. 2021. *Belfast Archive Project*. Accessed September 30. http://www.belfastarchiveproject.com/frankiequinncordonsataire.
- 6. 'Gaeilgeoir and Advocate for People "of No Property". 2021. *The Irish Times*. Accessed November 3. https://www.irishtimes.com/news/gaeilgeoir-and-advocate-for-people-of-no-property-1.910835.
- 7. 'History Belfast Urban Motorway and A12 Westlink Northern Ireland Roads Site'. 2021. Accessed September 29. http://www.wesleyjohnston.com/roads/belfasturbanmotorway.html.
- Maguire, Aideen, Declan French, and Dermot O'Reilly. 2016. 'Residential Segregation, Dividing Walls and Mental Health: A Population-Based Record Linkage Study'. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 70 (9): 845–54. doi:10.1136/jech-2015-206888.
- 9. Martinez Perez, Alona. 2021. 'Spaces of Absence in the European City: Stitching Urban Infrastructure to Contemporary Collective Life'. *Architecture and Culture*, February, 1–10. doi:10.1080/20507828.2021.1878762.
- Morris, Allison. 2016. 'One in Five in Shadow of Peace Walls on Anti-Depressants'. *The Irish News*. March 17. http://www.irishnews.com/news/northernirelandnews/2016/03/17/news/one-in-five-in-shadow-of-peace-walls-on-antidepressants-453038/.
- 11. Ploger, Jorg. 2007. 'Belfast City Report'. Monograph. London, UK: Centre for Analysis of Social Exclusion, London School of Economics and Political Science. December. http://sticerd.lse.ac.uk/case/.
- 12. Rossi, Aldo, and Peter Eisenman. 1982. The Architecture of the City. Oppositions Books. Cambridge, Mass: MIT Press.

- 13. sidfletcher666. 2013. Divis Flats Belfast. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=6yeBykVOppQ.
- 14. Solà-Morales i Rubió, Manuel de. 2008. *Diez Lecciones Sobre Barcelona: Los Episodios Urbanísticos Que Han Hecho La Ciudad Moderna: Urbanistic Episodes That Have Made the Modern City = Ten Lessons on Barcelona*. 2. ed. Barcelona: COAC, Col″legi d'Arquitectes de Catalunya.
- 15. Solà-Morales i Rubió, Manuel de, Kenneth Frampton, and Hans Ibelings. 2008. *A Matter of Things*. Rotterdam: NAi Publishers.
- Taylor, John D et al. 1971. 'Government of Northern Ireland Future Policy on Areas of Confrontation. Second and Final Report of the Joint Working Party on Processions'. Secret Government of Northern Ireland.
- 17. Venturi, Robert, Denise Scott Brown, and Steven Izenour. 2000. Learning from Las Vegas: The Forgotten Symbolism of Architectural Form. 17th print. Cambridge, Mass.: The MIT Press.

Venting Practices: Navigating the interpersonal dynamics of sociotechnical spatial design work in neo-Apartheid cities

Jhono Bennett^a, Olwethu Jack^b, Jacqueline Cuyler^c

^a PhD Candidate, University College London, London, United Kingdom
 ^b Founder of Ubuntu Growing Minds, Cape Town, South Africa.
 ^c Co-Founder of 1to1 – Agency of Engagement, Johannesburg, South Africa

Abstract

This paper will focus on the built environment dynamics of spatial design practitioners and the related disciplines involvement in addressing spatial inequality and draws from a series of recorded conversations between a small group of South African socio-technical spatial design practitioners during the 2020 Covid19 Lockdown. These conversations were titled 'Gripe Sessions' and were held every 2 weeks between three socio-technical practitioners as a means of support, reflection, and knowledge sharing.

The paper's intent lies in making tangible a series of interpersonal dynamics that are present within working from the grass-roots neighbourhood scale of socially engaged built environment work in the contemporary neo-apartheid city condition and link these concerns with the larger discourse on city-making practice towards spatial justice in South Africa's built environment.

Keywords

Socio-Technical Design, Grass-Roots, Neighbourhood Design, Positionality, Critical Practice

- 1. Authors (2022) 'Notes from "Gripe Sessions Analysis". Data Sets stored on secured drive and available on request.
- Achille Mbembe (2017) 'Columbia University Press, 1987', in *Out of the dark night : essays on decolonization*, pp. 31–61.
- 3. Bhan, G. (2019) 'Notes on a Southern urban practice', *Environment and Urbanization*, 31(2), pp. 639–654. doi: 10.1177/0956247818815792.
- 4. Bhan, G. *et al.* (2020) *The Pandemic, Southern Urbanisms and Collective Life, Society+Space.* Available at: https://www.societyandspace.org/articles/the-pandemic-southern-urbanisms-and-collective-life (Accessed: 11 January 2022).
- 5. Biko, H. (2013) The Great African Society: A plan for a nation gone astray. Johannesburg: Jonathan Ball Publishers.
- 6. Bradlow, B. H. (2021) 'Weapons of the Strong: Elite Resistance and the Neo-Apartheid City', *City & Community*, p. 153568412199452. doi: 10.1177/1535684121994522.
- 7. Brown-Luthango, M. (2013) 'Community-university engagement: The Philippi CityLab in Cape Town and the challenge of collaboration across boundaries', *Higher Education*, 65(3), pp. 309–324. doi: 10.1007/s10734-012-9546-z.
- 8. Dana Cuff (1991) Architecture: The Story of Practice. 1st edn. Boston: MIT Press.
- 9. Flaherty, J. (2016) No more heroes : grassroots challenges to the savior mentality. AK Press.
- Gotz, G., Mubiwa, B. and Wray, C. (2014) 'Spatial change in Johannesburg and the Gauteng city-region', in Harrison, P. et al. (eds) *Changing space, changing city: Johannesburg after apartheid*. Johannesburg: Wits University Press, pp. 269–292.
- Hamdi, N. (2010) The placemakers' guide to building community: planning, design and placemaking in practice. London; Sterling, VA: Earthscan. Available at: https://ezp.lib.unimelb.edu.au/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=cat00006a&AN=melb .b4102798&site=edslive&scope=site%5Cnhttp://www.unimelb.eblib.com.au.ezp.lib.unimelb.edu.au/patron/FullRecord.aspx?p=554803.
- 12. Hamdi, N. (2013) *Small change: About the art of practice and the limits of planning in cities, Small Change: About the Art of Practice and the Limits of Planning in Cities.* London; Sterling, Va: Earthscan. doi: 10.4324/9781849772532.

- 13. Lamsal, M. (2012) 'The Structuration Approach of Anthony Giddens', *Himalayan Journal of Sociology and Anthropology*, 5, pp. 111–122. doi: 10.3126/hjsa.v5i0.7043.
- 14. Malaza, N. (2014) 'Black urban, black research: Why understanding space and identity in South Africa still matters', in Harrison, P. et al. (eds) *Changing space, changing city: {Johannesburg} after apartheid.* Johannesburg: Wits University Press, pp. 553–567.
- 15. Matsipa, M. (2014) Urban Renewal in Johannesburg. University of California, Berkeley.
- McDowell, L. (1992) 'Doing Gender: Feminism, Feminists and Research Methods in Human Geography', *Transactions* - *Institute of British Geographers* (1965), 17(4), pp. 399–416. doi: 10.2307/622707.
- 17. Myambo, M. T. *et al.* (2018) *Reversing Urban Inequality in Johannesburg*. 1st edn, *Reversing Urban Inequality in Johannesburg*. 1st edn. Edited by M. T. Myambo. Johannesburg: Routledge. doi: 10.4324/9780429453304.
- Norber, K. and Harding, S. (2005) 'New Feminist Approaches to Social Science Methodologies: An Introduction', Signs: Journal of Women in Culture and Society, 30(4), pp. 2009–2015. doi: 10.1086/428420.
- 19. Oldfield, S. (2008) 'Who's serving whom? Partners, process, and products in service-learning projects in South African Urban Geography', *Journal of Geography in Higher Education*, 32(2), pp. 269–285. doi: 10.1080/03098260701514215.
- 20. Parnell, S. S. *et al.* (2014) *The Routledge handbook on cities of the Global South.* 1 Edition. London ; New York: Routledge, Taylor & Francis Group.
- Pieterse, E. (2014) 'Epistemological Practices of Southern Urbanism', *African Centre for Cities Seminar Series*, (16 February), pp. 1–27. Available at: https://www.africancentreforcities.net/wp-content/uploads/2014/02/Epistemic-practices-of-southern-urbanism-Feb-2014.pdf.
- 22. Pieterse, E. and Simone, A. M. (2013) *Rogue urbanism: emergent African cities*. Cape Town: Jacana Media. Available at: http://www.africabib.org/rec.php?RID=395556783.
- SACN, S. A. C. N. (2016) State of South African cities report, '16. Edited by K. Davidson and G. Karuri-Sebina. Johannesburg, South Africa: e South African Cities Network. Available at: http://www.sacities.net/the-state-of-southafrican-cities-report-2016.
- 24. Schön, D. A. (1983) The Reflective Practitioner. New York: Basic Books.
- 25. Sihlongonyane, M. F. (2015) 'The challenges of theorising about the Global South a view from an African perspective', *Africa Insight*, 45(2), pp. 59–74.
- 26. Simone, A. M. (2004) For the city yet to come: changing African life in four cities, City. Durham and London: Duke University Press.
- Watson, V. (2006) 'Deep Difference: Diversity, Planning and Ethics', *Planning Theory*, 5(1), pp. 31–50. doi: 10.1177/1473095206061020.
- 28. Winkler, T. (2018) 'Black texts on white paper: Learning to see resistant texts as an approach towards decolonising planning', *Planning Theory*, 17(4), pp. 588–604. doi: 10.1177/1473095217739335.
- 29. Yiftachel, O. (2009) 'Theoretical notes on "gray cities": The coming of urban apartheid?', *Planning Theory*, 8(1), pp. 88–100. doi: 10.1177/1473095208099300.

Religion and Identity Construction: Unity in Diversity

Dr. Mansoureh Ebrahimi¹, Assoc. Prof. Dr. Asmady Idris², Prof. Dr. Kamaruzaman Yusoff¹, Emer. Prof. Dr. Teo Kok Seong³, Dr. Ahmad Muhyuddin¹

¹Academy of Islamic Civilisation, Universiti Teknologi Malaysia ²Faculty of Social Science and Humanities, Universiti Malaysia Sabah ³Institute of Ethnic Studies (KITA), Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia

Abstract

The role of religion in constructing an identity based on Malay Bumiputra (son of the soil) Muslims, as the majority group of the population, is a debatable discussion among Malaysians. Since its 1957 independence, the supreme law of Malaysia, the Federal Constitution, has pronounced Islam as the official religion in the country and the Yang Dipertuan Agong, King of Malaysia, as the Head of Islam. This provision also allows other religious ideologies to be practiced. Apart from the 1969 tragedy, Malaysian people happily live in harmonious and peaceful multi-ethnic, multi-cultural and multi-religious societies while each ethnicity promotes its own culture, it respects other diversities, cherishes differences to promote unity and avoid disunity. This article aims to examine the identity construction built up by the Malay Bumiputra Muslims and analyze people's responses to related government's policies. Governmental attempts have been taken to promote stability and racial harmony. Still, there are hurdles faced by the Malaysians, such as economic disparities among ethnicities, education based on vernacular circles, and others. On top of that, there are vast differences in community identity construction between the Malay Peninsula and the Borneo states, Sabah and Sarawak. The former was directly politically colonized by the British, but the latter, especially Sabah, had no experience of 'divide and rule' along racial lines as British presented in the Malay Peninsula because Sabah was initially ruled for business purposes by the North British Borneo Company but later incorporated as British colonies after 1946 and continued until 1963. To some extent, however, this historical setting has shaped Malaysian politics to be primarily centred upon the Malay and Bumiputra racialhegemony context. This political setting cannot be avoided, for the Malay and Bumiputra Muslims need politics to safeguard their rights, but other ethnics are also permitted to form their parties to represent their communities. To conclude, this division has been made to provide unity in diversity in the multi-racial society, which is politically and socioeconomically constructed.

Keywords

Religion ; Identity ; Malaysia ; Unity in diversity

- 1. <u>Asmady Idris & Suzalie Mohamad. (2014). Kelangsungan Dominasi Barisan Nasional di Sabah Dalam Pilihanraya Umum Ke-13, Kajian Malaysia, 32(2), 171-206</u>
- 2. Cerulo, K. (1997). Identity Construction: New Issues, New Directions. Annual Review of Sociology. 23: 385-409.
- 3. Ebrahimi, M., & Kamaruzaman Yusoff. (2020a). Socio-Political Islam & Revivalism in Malaysia. Journal for the Study of Religious and Ideologies, 19(57): 239-254.
- 4. Izwan Abdullah. (2022, January 20). Pendaftaran GRS Kukuhkan Politik, Lonjak Ekonomi Sabah. *Berita Harian*.https://www.bharian.com.my/berita/nasional/2022/01/913494/pendaftaran-grs-kukuhkan-politik-lonjak-ekonomi-sabah
- 5. Kalimuthu, K. R. (1986). The Sabah State Elections of April 1985. Asian Survey, 26(7), 815-837, https://doi.org/10.2307/2644213.
- Osman, S. (1992). Sabah State Elections: Implications for Malaysian Unity. Asian Survey, 32(4), 380–391. https://doi.org/10.2307/2645153.
- 7. Saravanamuttu, J. (2016). Power Sharing in a Divided Nation. Singapore: ISEAS Yusof Ishak Institute
- 8. Seth-Jones, D. (2020). 1MDB Corruption Scandal in Malaysia: A Study of Failings in Control and Accountability. Bingley, United Kingdom.

The Zinc Forest: Making Home in the (Post)Apartheid City

Barry S. Lewis

Director, Ubuhle Bakha Ubuhle (UBU), Cape Town, South Africa

Abstract

Apartheid's legacy is kept alive through spatial, physical, political, social, economic, racial and religious divisions. This is evident in the city of Cape Town that was designed to remind certain humans that they don't belong, and it continues to do what it was d esigned to do. How do the designers of the city situate ourselves in the dynamic ruin of home making in the (post)apartheid city? Within it, homes are being fought for, rebuilt, recreated and formed at every moment in the zinc forest (informal communities). The shack never stops moving, because the spirit of the *ulangisa nganyenganye* (eg. bit by bit) means that it is always changing. The carpet Siya James used at the outset to make a roof became a flat zinc sheet through its encounter with rain then gets slanted at an angle to shed the water. This is the relational process of home making, a worlding process (Haraway 2008). If we understand the nature of the Zinc Forest as a worlding process taking root, growing and constantly forming and becoming, there is an opportunity for us to diffract this phenomenon with more conventional ways of conceiving communities.

This diffractive methodology can help us to re-conceptualise and re-define the nature of place m

and the forming of home in the face of histories and memories that refuse to go away.

Keywords

Zinc Forest; Home; City; Architecture; Worlding; Diffraction

- 1. Barad, K. (2007). Meeting the Universe Halfway. Duke University Press Harraway, D.J. (2008). When Species Meet. University of Minnesota Press Hamdi, N. (2004). Small Change. Earthscan
- 2. Osman, A (2019, February 26). '*Resilience Thinking for the next generation of deisgers* @ *the* #cocreate Design *Festival 2019*'.
- a. http://amiraosman.co.za/2019/03/19/resilience-thinking-for-the-next-generation-of-designers-the-cocreate-design-festival-2019/
- 3. Turner, J (1976) 1976). Housing By People. Marion Boyars
- 4. Vellem, V (2016, August 6). Epistomological dialogue as prophetic: A Black theological perspective on the land issue.
- a. Scriptura. http://dx.doi.org/10.7833/115-0-1201
- 5. Wigley, M. (1997). The Architecture of Deconstruction, Derrida's Haunt. MIT

Part IV Questions of Agency

The Role of Art in the Construction of Public Space:Istanbul Biennials from 1987 to 2019

Elif Eş1, Guliz Ozorhon2

¹ MSc City and Architecture at Ozyegin University, Turkey. ²Associate Professor of the Architecture and Design Faculty, Department of Architecture at the Ozyegin University, Turkey

Abstract

This study focuses on the interaction of public-space and art and examines the role of art in the public-space in the example of the Istanbul Biennials (1987-2019). For this study, first of all, public-space, art in public-space, public- art issues are examined and the relationship between public-space and art is discussed from past to present. Biennials, with their layered and dynamic structures, offer a rich space to examine this relationship. The Istanbul Biennials, where this relationship can be observed in a certain continuity with its 32-year history, chosen as the research area. In this study, the distribution of the Istanbul biennials to the city, the variety of venues used, and the relationship between these venues are examined. For the analysis, firstly, the discourses, themes and curatorial expansions of the 16 biennials searched through literature and printed-media. Secondly, the exhibition venues and their locations/distributions in the city were mapped separately. Eventually, it has been determined that the biennials, which were initially located in the historical city center in Istanbul, have gradually expanded their area and even started to evolve into an open-air exhibition spreading to the peripheries and distant parts of the city in recent years. Thus, it can be said that with the biennial events(art), the boundaries of the public-space have expanded and its power has increased, and even public-spaces have been reconstructed with art.

Keywords

art; biennial; interaction; transformation; public-space; Istanbul

Referance

- 1. Akkar Ercan, M. (2007). Public spaces of post-industrial cities and their changing roles. *METU Journal Faculty of Architecture*, 24(1), 115-137.
- 2. McCarthy, J. (2006). Regeneration of Cultural Quarters: Public Art for Place Image or Place Identity?.
- a. Journal of Urban Design 11, 243–262.
- 3. Oren, M. (2008). Beyond Ambivalence: Turkish artsits at the Istanbul Biennial, *Culturel Studies Taylor & Francis Group*, 22(6), 820-836.
- 4. Sharp, J., Pollock, V., & Paddison, R. (2005). Just art for a just city: Public art and social inclusion in urban regeneration. *Urban Studies* 42, 1001–1023.
- 5. Worth, M. (2003). Creating significance through public space: An inclusive and inter-disciplinary practice. *Public Arts and Urban Design* (pp.47-59), Interdisciplinary and Social Perspectives. Barcelona: MACBA.

The design of a rural house in Bushbuckridge, South Africa: An Open Building interpretation

Wihan Hendrikz^a, Amira Osman^b

 ^a Researcher, PLATFORM 100; Candidate Architect, Craig McClenaghan Architecture, Johannesburg.
 ^b Professor, Architecture and Industrial Design, Tshwane University of Technology, Pretoria, South Africa; SARChI: DST/NRF/SACN Research Chair in Spatial Transformation: Positive Change in the Built Environment; Director: PLATFORM 100.

Abstract

This study documents the design of a house in Bushbuckridge, Mpumalanga, South Africa that uses Open Building (OB) principles so that the house adapts to the changing needs of the family and maintains its intergenerational value.

This project uses two OB principles. The first principle is to ensure that the building's functioning is flexible to give the family greater agency over how they use and adapt the house to their changing needs. The second principle facilitates this by separating the structure and systems of the house into the primary and secondary structures that can function independent from one another.

The approach of this project is the de-centring of the designer in favour of centring the occupant in the design and construction process. It reconsiders the conventional architectural product as not fixed and not conceived of in the mind of a single person. Based on this worldview, the authors employ the following tools: literature review; analysis of the project site and its context; developing a brief of the family's current needs; the design for disentanglement; and an analysis of the design's potential future scenarios.

This way of working allows for the family to have more creative design input as they can inhabit the primary level and make design decisions in the space, as opposed to making all the decisions on paper, before construction.

This paper applies OB principles in a low-income, rural house project to illustrate that they also have value for the architecture at a small scale, how a house can be disentangled to ensure that it adapts to the changing needs and creativity of the occupant.

Keywords

Open Building; Architecture; rural house; Bushbuckridge, South Africa;

- Department of Arts and Culture, 2009. *Place Names*. [Online] Available at: <u>http://www.salanguages.com/munnames.htm</u> [Accessed 14 04 2022].
- 2. Habraken, N. J., 1972. Supports: An Alternative to Mass Housing. New York: Praeger.
- 3. Kendall, S., 1996. Disentangling Parts, Disentangling Parties: An Open Systems Approach to Building Renovation. *Support/Infill Housing and Open Building: Papers on Principles and Practice*, pp. 89-95.
- OpenBuilding.co, 2020. *Manifesto*. [Online] Available at: <u>https://www.openbuilding.co/manifesto</u> [Accessed 31 March 2022].

Repositioning architectural education inside out

Absalom Jabu Makhubu¹

Lecturer, University of Johannesburg and PhD Candidate, Tshwane University of Technology

Abstract

The act of drawing a line on a piece of paper can be viewed as an act of division. In spatial disciplines such as architecture, urban design, and planning lines tell us many things. They define borders from boundaries, describe what is in from what is out, what is above from what is below, what is important from what is not. They have the power to divide and to connect. Apartheid spatial planning has a profound impact on the shape and form of cities in South Africa who are in many ways challenged by its legacies. Pedagogically, the need for transformation within institutions of higher learning in the country has been a growing one, especially after the 2015/2016 national student protest for free and decolonised education (amongst other issues). Based on the student outputs and discussions in the studio, students of architecture in Johannesburg have very particular experiences/questions about the city that they would like to explore in their training, however architectural education does not yet have the tools, principles, pattern, ethics and vocabulary sufficient to engage those enquiries. The dominance of Eurocentric canon still prevails. Therefore more work is needed to transform and reposition architectural education to address contemporary life in the city. The department of architecture (DoA) at UJ in 2017 transformed its pedagogy through the introduction of semester long, cross stream vertical studio electives, covering themes such as public space in the city, landscapes of worship, tectonics of refuge and protest city. This paper maps the shifts in architectural education at UJ since 2011, with emphasis to Protest City elective. It uses the elective's course documentation (learner guide, project briefs, assessments etc), the student's outputs (drawings, text, images etc) to formulate an argument to repositioning architectural education towards a "new normal".

Keywords

Agency; Architectural education; alternative imaginaries; radical

- 1. Alexander, C. (1985). The production of houses. Oxford Univ. Pr.
- Ballard, R., Hamann, C., & Mkhize, T. (2021). Johannesburg: Repetitions and Disruptions of Spatial Patterns. In A. Lemon, R. Donaldson, & G. Visser (Eds.), *South African Urban Change Three Decades After Apartheid* (pp. 35–55). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-73073-4_3
- 3. Bruyns, G., & Graafland, A. (Eds.). (2012). *African perspectives, [South] Africa: City, society, space, literature and architecture.* 010 Publishers.
- 4. Freire, P., & Ramos, M. B. (1993). *Pedagogy of the oppressed* (New revised 20th-anniversary edition). Continuum.
- Janse Van Rensburg, A. (2016). Enabling transformation: A model for facilitating successful design learning outcomes in first year Bachelor of Architectural Studies [Thesis]. http://wiredspace.wits.ac.za/handle/10539/20172
- 6. Judin, H. (2008). Unsettling Johannesburg: The Country in the City. In A. Huyssen (Ed.), *Other Cities, Other Worlds* (pp. 121–146). Duke University Press. https://doi.org/10.1215/9780822389361-006
- 7. Lokko, L. (2015). A Risky Business. *ARCH SA: Journal of South African Institute of Architects*, 76, 13. https://www.academia.edu/20671276/A_Risky_Business
- Luckan, Y. (2016). The transformation of architectural pedagogy towards a new model for architectural education at universities of technology in South Africa. [Thesis]. https://researchspace.ukzn.ac.za/handle/10413/15720

- 9. Makhubu, A. J., & Toffa, T. (2017). *Protest City Elective*. https://issuu.com/home/published/protest_city_17_print_ready
- Mbembé, J.-A., & Nuttall, S. (2004). Writing the World from an African Metropolis. *Public Culture*, 16(3), 347–372. https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=sso&db=edspmu&AN=edspmu.S15278018 04303479&site=eds-live&scope=site&custid=s6390179
- Mills, G., & Lipman, A. (1994). Society and Architectural Education in South Africa—Are Universities Appropriate Venues for Schools of Architecture? *Environment and Planning B: Planning and Design*, 21(2), 213–221. https://doi.org/10.1068/b210213
- 12. Murray, M. J. (2004). *The evolving spatial form of cities in a globalising world economy: Johannesburg and São Paulo*. Human Sciences Research Council.
- 13. Osman. (2009). Educating for Flexibility, explorations into housing and urban environments in South Africa. ARCH SA: Journal of South African Institute of Architects.
- 14. Saidi, F. E. (2006). *Developing a Curriculum Model for Architectural Education in a Culturally Changing South Africa* [Thesis, University of Pretoria]. https://repository.up.ac.za/handle/2263/27969
- 15. Sennett, R. (2009). The craftsman. Penguin Books.
- 16. Young-Pugh, R. G. (2005). Architectural Practice and Education in South Africa: From Local Transformation to Global Participation. *Journal of Architectural Education (1984-)*, *58*(3), 33–41. https://www.jstor.org/stable/40480553

Question of Agency: What drives divisive space (re)production and spatial transformation in the City of Polokwane?

Frank Moffat¹, James Chakwizira², Sijekula Mbanga³

¹ Postdoctoral Fellow, Nelson Mandela University, Port Elizabeth, South Africa ²Professor, Urban and Regional Planning, North West University, Potchefstroom, South Africa ³Associate Professor & Chair of Human Settlements, Nelson Mandela University, Port Elizabeth, South Africa

Abstract

Cities are tension ridden urban ecologies comprised of divided collections of social structures and multiple agencies whose interaction influences spatial transformation. The current development trajectory and spatial transformation witnessed in South Africa is perpetuating and manifesting in multiple forms of divided urban ecologies. This mirrors the (re)production of apartheid socio-spatial injustices and contradictions, manifesting multiple dilemmas in analogy with the re-imagined city as inscribed in post-apartheid progressive legislative and policy frameworks. This study moved beyond the usual inquiry limited in focus on spatial planning approaches and characterizing the nature of common threads of socio-spatial divisions among cities. It unravels the complex systems and factors that (re)produce and shape the divisive socio-spatial qualities of cities and territories ecologies with special focus on City of Polokwane. Data were collected using both quantitative and qualitative tools underpinned by the pragmatic philosophical paradigm. 507 questionnaires were analysed and seven key experts were interviewed using a semi-structured interview guide. Quantitative data analysis included; descriptive statistics (measurement of reliability, validity and normality) and exploratory factor analysis. Qualitative data were analysed using content analysis. Critical urban theory, spatial dialectics and didactics theory constituted the theoretical framework and analytical approach in this study. The findings reveal that complex systems and agencies driving divisive space (re)production and spatial transformation in the city of Polokwane are as follows; i) governance and policy drivers ii) spatial characteristics/biophysical drivers; iii) social and cultural drivers and iv) Economic drivers. In conclusion, these urban ecologies presents that the dialectical socio-spatial processes associated with divisive space [re]production in Polokwane are complex, making it difficult to redress a century of historical spatial injustices and segregation or attain the re-imagined post-apartheid cities in a short space of time.

Keywords

Urban ecologies; Spatial transformation; Space (re)production; Complex systems; Socio-spatial injustices

- 1. Al-Shehri, A. M. (2012). Quality management and medical education in Saudi Arabia. In K.-S. Ng (Ed.), Quality management and practices. Accessed on 15July2019. Retrieved from: http://www.intechopen.com/books/quality-management-and-practices/qualitymanagement-and-medical-education-in-saudi-arabia.
- 2. Arandelovic, B. & Bogunovich, D. (2014). City profile: Berlin. Cities, 37, pp.1-26.
- 3. Bai, A., Hira, S., & Deshpande, P. S. (2015). An application of factor analysis in the evaluation of country economic rank. *Procedia Computer Science*, 54, pp.311-317.
- 4. Brenner, N., Marcuse, P. & Mayer, M. (eds). (2012). *Cities for People not profit: critical urban theory and right to the city*. Oxon: Routledge.
- 5. Bruyns, G. (2018). The Social and the Spatial, Urban Models as Morphologies for a 'Lived' Approach to Planning. *Cubic Journal*, 1(1), 52-73.
- Coetzee, M., Waldeck, L., Le Roux, A., Meiklejohn, C., Van Niekerk, W. & Leuta, T., (2014). Spatial policy, planning and infrastructure investment: Lessons from urban simulations in three South African cities. *Town and Regional Planning*, 64(1), pp.1-9.
- 7. Cronbach, L.J. (1951). Coefficient alpha and the internal structure of tests. Psychometrika, 16(3), pp.297-334.

- 8. de Oliveira Cavalcanti, C., Limont, M., Dziedzic, M. & Fernandes, V. (2017). Sustainability of urban mobility projects in the Curitiba metropolitan region. *Land Use Policy*, 60, pp.395-402.
- 9. Early, L., Howden-Chapman, P. & Russel, M. (eds). (2015) *Drivers of urban change*. Wellington: Steele Roberts. Retrieved from: steeleroberts.co.nz/product/drivers-of-urban-change/.
- 10. Hair, J. F., Black, W. C., Babin, B. J., & Anderson, R. E. (2014). *Multivariate Data Analysis* (7th ed.). EdinBurgh: Prentice-Hall.
- 11. Halvorsen, S. (2017). Spatial dialectics and the geography of social movements: the case of Occupy London. *Transactions of the Institute of British Geographers*, 42 (3), 445-457.
- 12. Ibrahim, D. (2017). Growth and change in Toronto's neighbourhoods: The challenges of planning for growth and density in the downtown and inner suburbs. Social Planning Toronto, Toronto.
- Landman, K. (2006). Socio-spatial transformation in Africa: a framework to map the process and guide the planning of future cities. Paper delivered at the *Conference: Planning Africa 2006, Cape Town, 22-24 March 2006.*
- Laufa, S. Haaseb, D. Hostertc, P. Lakesc, T. & Kleinschmita, B. (2011). Uncovering land-use dynamics driven by human decision-making-A combined model approach using cellular automata and system dynamics. *Environmental Modelling and Software* (27-28) 71-82.
- 15. Lee, M. (2008). Identification of clinical and economic effectiveness of nursing care for the hospitalized clients with total hip replacement. Unpublished doctoral thesis. University of Iowa.
- Liu Y. Yue W & Fan, P. (2011). Spatial determinants of urban land conversion in large Chinese cities: a case of Hangzhou. *Environment and Planning*, (38) pp.706 – 725.
- 17. Marcuse, P. (2012). Whose right(s) to what city?, In Brenner, N., Marcuse, P., & Margit, M. (eds) *Cities for people, not for profit.* Oxon: Routledge
- 18. Milojevic, B. & Region, B. (2012). Influential Factors on the Urban Transformation of Cities in Bosnia and Herzegovina in the Period of Transition, 48th ISOCARP Congress 2012, pp. 1–11.
- 19. Moffat, F. 2021. *Spatial transformation in the City of Polokwane (1996-2016)*. Unpublished doctoral thesis. University of Venda, South Africa.
- 20. Mubiwa, B. & Annegarn, H. (2013). Historical spatial change in the Gauteng City-Region, GCRO Occasional Paper 4.
- Muchadenyika, D., & Williams, J. J. (2017). Politics and the practice of planning: The case of Zimbabwean cities. *Cities*, 63, pp.33-40. DOI. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cities.2016.12.022.
- 22. Muhammed, B.S. & Onuche, O.I., (2017). The Effect of Urbanization on the Living Condition of Mpape Residents in Bwari Area Council of the Federal Capital Territory. *Kaduna Journal of Sociology*, 5(1), pp.164-172.
- 23. Muronda, T. (2008). Evolution of Harare as Zimbabwe's capital city and a major central place in southern Africa in the context of by Byland's model of settlement evolution. *Journal of Geography and Regional Planning*, 1(2), p.34-40.
- Sadiki, P. & Ramutsindela, M. (2002) 'Peri-urban transformation in South Africa : Experiences from Limpopo Province', *GeoJournal*, 57(1), pp. 57–63.
- 25. Salmon, G. (2015). Auckland. pp.16-54. In Early, L. Howden-Chapman, P. & Russell, M. (eds). (2015). *Drivers of Urban Change*. PrintStop, Welington.
- 26. Thorns, D.C. (2012). *The transformation of cities: urban theory and urban life*. Macmillan International Higher Education. New York.
- Tosics, I. (2005). City developments in Central and Eastern Europe since 1990: The impacts of internal forces. In Hamilton, F. I., Andrews, K. D., & Pichler-Milanović, N. (eds) *Transformation of cities in central and Eastern Europe: Towards globalization*. United Nations University Press.
- Turok, I. (2014). Settlement Planning and Urban Transformation. In Spatial transformation of Cities Conference Report 4-6 March 2014. Pretoria: South African Cities Network.
- 29. Wei, Y. H. D. (2012). Restructuring for growth in urban China: Transitional institutions, urban development, and spatial transformation. *Habitat International*, 36(3), 396–405.
- 30. Wheeler, S.M. (2003). The evolution of urban form in Portland and Toronto: Implications for sustainability planning. *Local Environment*, 8(3), pp.317-336.
- 31. Wray, C, Musango, J, Damon, K, & Cheruiyot, K. (2013). Modelling urban spatial change: a review of international and South African modelling initiatives, 146.141.12.21.
- 32. Zhang, L., Yue, W., Liu, Y., Fan, P. and Wei, Y.D. (2018). Suburban industrial land development in transitional China: Spatial restructuring and determinants. *Cities*, 78, pp.96-107.

Geospatial based flood inundation mapping for developing an adaptation framework: a case for Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality, South Africa

Dr Emmanuel Busayo

Department of Geography and Environmental Sciences, University of Fort Hare

Abstract

Flooding is one of the most devastating hydro-meteorological hazards in South Africa. For example, communities on the East Coast which include Buffalo City Metropolitan Municipality suffer the impacts of floods almost every year. This paper focused on the mapping of social flood risk in the BCMM. The study combined Geographic Information Systems (GIS), Remote Sensing, 1/50 and 1/100 flood return periods, and socioeconomic data in mapping flood disaster risk. The resultant risk map and outputs show communities, populace, building (types), and towns that are exposed to flood risk in the region of analysis. The study recommends that early action, early warning systems and proper planning permission should be improved, including conformity to legal building codes for the reduction of flood disaster risk and to eradicate haphazard planning. In addition, further research on flood disaster risk mapping is required, this can be replicated with the methodology presented in this study to enable the advancement of local and global urban planning, climate change adaptation and disaster risk reduction framework.

Keywords

BCMM; flood disaster risk; mapping; geospatial; remote sensing; planning

Addressing Housing Inequalities in Post-Conflict Belfast: A Transformative Justice Approach

Caitriona Mackel¹

¹PhD Researcher at the Transitional Justice Institute, University of Ulster, Newtownabbey, Northern Ireland

Abstract

Belfast is a deeply divided, fragmented city not just politically, socially, and economically but physically. It is a city shaped by its history, its experiences of violent conflict and its post-conflict transition. A collage of so-called peace walls and interface areas segregate neighbourhoods across the city creating some of the most socially and economically deprived areas where inequalities are significantly exacerbated by the tension and sectarianism that segregation reinforces. Despite the peace process, historical and new inequalities in the provision and allocation of social housing affect many vulnerable individuals and communities. The challenge of navigating housing in a politically and physically divided city has resulted in failed opportunities to shape policies and procedures to address chronic housing inequalities. Conflict is common in all societies but for those polarised along political, ethnic, ideological or religious lines establishing sustainable democratic institutions and dealing with the past poses a more complex challenge. Addressing the legacy of violence and human rights violations is central to building sustainable peace. If we acknowledge that socio-economic inequalities are not only a consequence of violent conflict but a root cause, then we must also acknowledge that correcting these inequalities is an essential component of post-conflict policy. Under a transformative justice approach to peacebuilding, affirmative action programmes and grassroots social movements, such as the Right to the City, could be utilised to re-shape housing policy and address chronic housing inequalities in post-conflict Belfast. In doing so we could look to the future as well as deal with the past.

Keywords

Housing Inequality; Transformative Justice; Affirmative Action; Divided Cities

- 1. Barnard, C. and Hepple, B. (2000). Substantive Equality. 59(3) Cambridge LJ.
- 2. Department for Communities. (2020). Northern Ireland Housing Statistics 2019-20 NISRA
- Domaradzka, A. (2018). Urban Social Movements and the Right to the City: An Introduction to the Special Issue on Urban. 29 Institute for Social Studies.
- 4. Equality Commission for Northern Ireland. (2017). Statement on Key Inequalities in Housing and Communities in Northern Ireland
- 5. Evans, M. (2018). Transformative Justice: Remedying Human Rights Violations Beyond Transition. Routledge.
- 6. Fredman, S. (2011). *Discrimination Law*. Oxford University Press.
- 7. Gready, P. Boesten, J. Crawford, G. and Wilding, P. (2010) Transformative Justice: A Concept Note. Accessed at https://wun.ac.uk/files/transformative_justice_-_concept_note_web_version.pdf
- 8. Guelke, A. (2012). Politics in Deeply Divided Societies. Polity Press.
- 9. Marks, S. (2011). Human Rights and Root Causes. 74(1) Modern Law Review.

Architectural Agency: Seeking New Ground and Porous Borders

Ciarán Mackel

Belfast School of Architecture and the Built Environment, University of Ulster

Abstract

The small, pocket-city of Belfast is divided and defined by walls and barriers. It remains one of several postconflict cities still emerging from historical context and localised conditions of deep-seated sectarianism and episodes of violence, where identities and affiliations are linked to a strongly held sense of ownership of territory. Such terrain is difficult ground on which to negotiate where walls have endured and increased in height and number, despite declarations, (by the British military) in 1969, that 'the peace line will be a very, very temporary affair'. Tragically, forty per cent of the deaths in the conflict were within stone-throwing distance of the peace lines in north and west Belfast.

The prospect of violence, the fear of having, or perceived to have, an allegiance that could register at a political level, meant that investment in the city of Belfast, during the conflict, mostly occurred in the commercial core. That narrative is now slowly changing, but the stopgap solutions of walls 'focussed on the physical separation of conflicting parties and communities' remains stubbornly difficult to negotiate, particularly where some resources and services are duplicated, or where streets can no longer (re-)connect.

There is urgent need for a development project for the interface areas, which must expand an intention to connect the inner-city neighbourhoods to each other, and to the core. Culture-led and housing-led regeneration has the capacity to make such new ground and can help re-power democracy by making porous edges and delivering a community-focussed ambition to make a difference in the city.

This paper explores a specific case study where a culture-led, grassroots initiative has developed and delivered schools, cultural centres, youth facilities, and is now developing a housing project. The Gaeltacht Quarter is a local neighbourhood project with a city-wide and national agenda for community empowerment and growth.

Keywords

Post-conflict; Interfaces; Culture-led Regeneration; New Ground; Community empowerment.

- 1. The research process availed of the following texts:
- 2. Louis le Brocquy (2006), The head Image: notes on painting and awareness, Milan; IMMA
- 3. Francisco Gonzalez de Camales + Nicholas Ray (2015), Rafael Moneo: Building, Teaching, Writing, New Haven, and London; Yale University Press
- 4. Adam Caruso (2008), The Feeling of Things, Barcelona; Ediciones Polígrafa
- 5. Jane Jacobs (2017), Vital Little Plans: short works of Jane Jacobs (ed Samuel Zipp and Nathan Starring), London, Short Books
- 6. Aodán Mac Póilin (2018), Our Tangled Speech: essays on language and culture, Belfast; Ulster Historical Foundation
- 7. Ciaran Mackel, (2018), 'Walls, Voids and Forward', LCB, Berlin
- Ciaran Mackel, (2021), Belfast Interregnum: Walls, Voids, and Forward to new Ground and Porous Borders', Astrágalo 29
- 9. Charles Montgomery (2013), Happy City: transforming our lives through urban design, London; Penguin
- 10. Brian O'Doherty (2018), Collected Essays (ed. Liam Kelly), California, University of California Press
- 11. Sheila O'Donnell, John Tuomey (2014), Space for Architecture: the work of O'Donnell + Tuomey, London; Artifice books on architecture
- 12. Richard Sennett (2018), Building and Dwelling: ethics for the city, London; Penguin
- 13. Michael Sorkin (2013), All over the map, New York; Verso
- 14. Michael Sorkin (2018), What goes up, New York; Verso
- 15. Jill Stoner (2012), Toward a Minor Architecture, Cambridge, Massachusetts; MIT Press
- 16. Enrique Walker (2018), The ordinary: recordings, New York; Columbia books on architecture and the city

/The City is [NOT] a Tree The Urban Ecologies of Divided Cities

A Book of Abstracts

The City is [NOT] a Tree spreads awareness of the problems that cause spatial, physical, political, social, economic, racial, and religious divisions in cities. Architects, planners, built environment professionals, social and political scientists, economists, designers and artists will come together to discuss the reasons for the divisions as well as to conceptualise an approach to heal those divisions. The conference will also include developers, local authorities and communities in the conversation.

The whole concept of the nature of divisions in cities means that effective principles and strategies can start to be formulated towards healing and transforming cities into livable and loveable places, some of which are viewed as the 'home' to more integrated communities, cities and a more just and unified society.

We will be laying the groundwork for the possibilities of new social and physical formations, seeking ways to work meaningfully for societal advantage. We explore the different kinds of approaches, tools and possibilities that may be learned through different disciplines.





Tshwane University of Technology We empower people

